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Introduction
This annual Listing Statement (the "Listing Statement") is furnished in connection with the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2018 by and on behalf of the management of Pacific Rim Cobalt Corp. (the "Company" or "Pacific Rim
Cobalt").
Forward‐Looking Statements
Certain statements in this Listing Statement may constitute "forward‐looking" statements which involve known and
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of
the Company, or industry results, to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements
expressed or implied by such forward‐looking statements. When used in this Listing Statement, such statements use
such words as "will", "may", "could", "intends", "potential", "plans", "believes", "expects", "projects", "estimates",
"anticipates", "continue", "potential", "predicts" or "should" and other similar terminology. These statements reflect
current expectations regarding future events and operating performance and speak only as of the date of this Listing
Statement. Forward‐looking statements include, among others, statements with respect to:







the Company's expected future losses and accumulated deficit levels;
the requirement for, and the Company's ability to obtain future funding on favourable terms or at all;
the Company's dependence on management;
the Company's plans in respect of development and operations;
the Company's risks associated with economic conditions; and
the Company’s conflicts of interest.

Forward‐looking statements involve significant risks and uncertainties, should not be read as guarantees of future
performance or results, and will not necessarily be accurate indications of whether or not such results will be
achieved. A number of factors could cause actual results to differ materially from the results discussed in the
forward‐looking statements, including, but not limited to, the factors discussed under the heading "Risk Factors".
Although the forward‐looking statements contained in this Listing Statement are based upon what management of
the Company believes are reasonable assumptions, the Company cannot assure investors that actual results will be
consistent with these forward‐looking statements and such statements should not be unduly relied upon by
investors. These forward‐looking statements are made as of the date of this Listing Statement. A number of factors
could cause actual events, performance or results, including those in respect of the foregoing items, to differ
materially from the events, performance and results discussed in the forward‐looking statements. Factors that could
cause actual events, performance or results to differ materially from those set forth in the forward‐looking
statements include, but are not limited to:









the extent of future losses;
the ability to obtain the capital required to fund development and operations;
the ability to capitalize on changes to the marketplace;
the ability to comply with applicable governmental regulations and standards;
the ability to attract and retain skilled and experienced personnel;
the impact of changes in the business strategies and development priorities of strategic partners;
stock market volatility; and
other risks detailed from time‐to‐time in the Company's ongoing quarterly and annual filings with applicable
securities regulators, and those which are discussed under the heading "Risk Factors".

Readers should not place undue reliance on forward‐looking statements as the plans, intentions or expectations
upon which they are based might not occur. Readers are cautioned that the foregoing lists of factors are not
exhaustive. Each of the forward‐looking statements contained in this Listing Statement are expressly qualified by
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this cautionary statement. The Company expressly disclaims any obligation or responsibility to update the forward‐
looking statements in this Listing Statement except as otherwise required by applicable law.
Market and Industry Data
This Listing Statement includes market and industry data that has been obtained from third party sources. The
Company believes that its industry data are accurate and that its estimates and assumptions are reasonable, but
there is no assurance as to the accuracy or completeness of this data. Third party sources generally state that the
information contained therein has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, but there is no assurance as
to the accuracy or completeness of included information. Although the data are believed to be reliable, the Company
has not independently verified any of the data from third party sources referred to in this Listing Statement or
ascertained the underlying economic assumptions relied upon by such sources.
Currency Information
In this Listing Statement, unless otherwise indicated, all references to "$" or "CDN$" are to Canadian dollars.
2.

Corporate Structure

2.1 – Corporate Name and Head Office and Registered Office
This Form 2A is filed in respect of Pacific Rim Cobalt, in connection with its annual filing requirements pertaining to
its listing on the Canadian Securities Exchange ("CSE"). The head office and registered address of the Company is
located at at Suite 300 ‐ Bellevue Centre, 235 ‐ 15th Street, West Vancouver, British Columbia, V7T 2X1. The records
office of the Company is located at 1000 – 840 Howe Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, V6Z 2M1.
2.2 – Jurisdiction of Incorporation
The Company was incorporated under the name "Bice Ventures Corp." on May 13, 1996 pursuant to the predecessor
to the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) (“BCBCA”). On August 17, 1999, the Company consolidated its
common shares on the basis of three (3) old shares for one (1) new share and increased its authorized capital to
100,000,000 common shares without par value. On September 24, 1999, the Company’s name was changed to “Pol‐
Invest Holdings Ltd.” On March 13, 2003, the Company changed its name to “Net Soft Systems Inc.” On June 2, 2004,
the Company transitioned to the BCBCA. On February 9, 2011, the Company adopted a special resolution to remove
the ‘pre‐existing company provisions’, amend its authorized capital to an unlimited number of common shares
without par value and to replace the Company’s articles. On March 3, 2011, the Company changed its name to “Rhys
Resources Ltd.”. On October 10, 2017, the Company changed its name to “Pacific Rim Cobalt Corp.”. On October 23,
2017 the Company consolidated its share capital on a four (4) old share for one (1) new share basis and on November
6, 2017 the Company split its share capital on a one (1) old share for one and a half (1.5) new share basis.
2.3 – Intercorporate Relationships
On October 23, 2017, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding common shares of the privately held
1121844 B.C. Ltd. (“CPA”), a company incorporated on June 6, 2017 under the laws of the BCBCA, by way of a share
exchange agreement dated September 7, 2017 (the “Share Exchange Agreement”) among the Company, CPA, the
CPA shareholders, Cobalt Power (Asia) Limited, a Hong Kong corporation incorporated on April 3, 2017 (“CPA HK”),
a wholly owner subsidiary of CPA, and the CPA HK shareholders. Pursuant to the Share Exchange Agreement, the
Company issued 11,000,000 common shares, in exchange for all of the issued and outstanding securities of CPA (the
“CPA Shares”), being all of the issued and outstanding share capital of CPA (the “CPA Exchange”). Upon completion
of the terms contemplated by the Share Exchange Agreement, CPA became a wholly‐owned subsidiary of the
Company. CPA’s wholly owned subsidiary, CPA HK, is party to an option agreement dated June 15, 2017 (the “Option
Agreement”) with PT. Tablasufa Nickel Mining (“TNM”) to acquire all of the issued and outstanding securities of
TNM (the “TNM Shares”). TNM is a private Indonesia company holding an IUP Operation Production Mining Permit
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for the TNM Cobalt Project (the “Cyclops Project”), named for its close proximity to the Cyclops mountain range,
situated on the north cost of Papua Province, Indonesia.
A copy of the Share Exchange Agreement is available on SEDAR under the Company’s profile, which can be accessed
through the internet at www.sedar.com.
Pacific Rim Mining Limited, a Hong Kong corporation incorporated on April 13, 2018 and Pacific Rim Processing
Limited (“PRP”), a Hong Kong corporation incorporated on December 4, 2017, are also wholly owned subsidiaries of
CPA. PRP holds a 95% interest in Pacific Rim Minerals Indonesia, PT, an Indonesian corporation incorporated on April
20, 2018.
On July 16, 2018, CPA HK acquired Minerals Harvest Limited (“MHL”), a Hong Kong corporation incorporated on April
13, 2011, which holds a 65% interest in TNM.
The diagram below describes the inter‐corporate relationship between the Company and its subsidiaries:
Pacific Rim Cobalt Corp. (the “Company”)


CSE Listed Company



B.C. corporation
100% equity

1121844 B.C. Ltd. (“CPA”)

Cobalt Power (Asia) Limited (“CPA HK”)



100% owned subsidiary of the Company



100% owned subsidiary of CPA



B.C. corporation



Hong Kong corporation

100% equity

100% equity

100% equity

Pacific Rim Mining Limited

Pacific Rim Processing Limited (“PRP”)



100% owned subsidiary of CPA



100% owned subsidiary of CPA



Hong Kong corporation



Hong Kong corporation
100% equity
Minerals Harvest Limited (“MHL”)

95% equity
Pacific Rim Mineral Indonesia, PT


95% owned subsidiary of PRP



Indonesian corporation



100% owned subsidiary of CPA HK



Hong Kong corporation

65% equity
PT. Tablasufa Nickel Mining
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65% owned subsidiary of MHL



Indonesian corporation

2.4 – Fundamental Change
The Company is not requalifying following a fundamental change or proposing an acquisition, amalgamation,
merger, reorganization or arrangement.
2.5 – Non‐corporate Issuers and Issuers incorporated outside of Canada
The Company holds its property interests through its wholly owned subsidiary, CPA, which holds its interest through
a wholly owned subsidiary, CPA HK, which holds its interest through a wholly owned subsidiary, MHL.
3.

General Development of the Business

3.1 – General Development of the Business
The Company is classified as a metals and minerals mining issuer engaged in the acquisition, exploration and
development of mineral properties. The Company’s common shares (each a "Common Share") are currently listed
on the Canadian Securities Exchange (the "CSE") under the symbol of "BOLT" and on the Over the Counter Market
Place QB Exchange (the "OTCQB") in the United States under the symbol "PCRCF".
History
Prior to the date of entering into the Share Exchange Agreement, the Company was focused on the acquisition and
development of conventional oil and gas projects with low risk drilling opportunities in western Canada. The
Company held (i) 128 hectares of land in the Provost area of Alberta known as the Dina Pool property, acquired in
June 2016; and (ii) 128 hectares of land in the Grand Prairie area of Alberta known as the Doe Creek property,
acquired in September 2016, both of which properties were acquired through Province of Alberta land sales for
nominal cash consideration.
On September 7, 2017, Pacific Rim Cobalt entered into the Share Exchange Agreement and trading in the Company’s
Common Shares on the TSX Venture Exchange was halted pending completion of the terms contemplated by the
Share Exchange Agreement. On October 24, 2017, Pacific Rim Cobalt completed the Share Exchange and became
listed on the CSE.
On October 23, 2017, concurrently with the closing of the Share Exchange, the Company completed a private
placement of 12,780,804 units. The units were sold at a price of CDN$0.35 per unit, for aggregate gross proceeds of
CDN$4,473,281. Each unit consisted of one Common Share and one‐half of one Common Share purchase warrant,
each whole warrant exercisable into one Common Share at a price of $0.50 until October 24, 2019, subject to
accelerated expiry provisions. In the event the closing price of the Company’s Common Shares exceeds $0.70 per
Common Share for a period of 20 consecutive trading days at any time, then at the Company’s election, the 24 month
period within which the warrants are exercisable will be reduced and the holders of the Warrants will be entitled to
exercise their warrants for a period of 30 days commencing on the day the Company provides the acceleration notice
via press release or written notice to all warrant holders. The Company paid a total of $262,624 in fees, issued
367,621 brokers warrants and 380,500 units to eligible finders who introduced subscribers to the financing.
On January 17, 2018, Pacific Rim Cobalt became listed on the OTCQB.
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Recent Financings
On February 12, 2019, the Company completed a private placement of 10,541,667 units. The units were sold at a
price of CDN$0.12 per unit, for aggregate gross proceeds of CDN$1,265,000. Each unit consisted of one Common
Share and one Common Share purchase warrant, each warrant exercisable into one Common Share at a price of
$0.20 until February 12, 2020, subject to accelerated expiry provisions. In the event the closing price of the
Company’s Common Shares exceeds $0.30 per Common Share for a period of 10 consecutive trading days at any
time, then at the Company’s election, the 12 month period within which the warrants are exercisable will be reduced
and the holders of the Warrants will be entitled to exercise their warrants for a period of 30 days commencing on
the day the Company provides the acceleration notice via press release or written notice to all warrant holders. The
Company paid a total of $25,928 in cash to eligible finders who introduced subscribers to the financing.
3.2 – Significant Acquisitions and Dispositions
Other than as described in sections 3.1 and 4.1 in this Listing Statement, no significant acquisitions or significant
dispositions have been completed by the Company during the last three financial years or are contemplated.
3.3 – Trends, Commitments, Events or Uncertainties
Other than as described in this section 3.3, there are no trends, commitments, events or uncertainties known to
management which could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the Company’s business, the
Company’s financial condition or results of operations. However, there are significant risks associated with the
Company’s business, as described in "Part 17 – Risk Factors".
4.

Narrative Description of the Business

4.1

General

Business of the Company
The Company is a publicly owned junior mining exploration business with a focus on properties based in Indonesia.
Pacific Rim Cobalt will use its available capital to finance exploration and development on its Cyclops Project and for
general working capital purposes.
Stated Business Objectives
Pacific Rim Cobalt’s immediate short‐term objective is to complete the exploration program on the Cyclops Project.
Pacific Rim Cobalt’s long‐term objectives will be to:
(a) determine if economic mineral deposits exist on the Cyclops Project;
(b) find one or more economic mineral deposits and bring them to commercial production; and
(c) deliver a return on capitalization to shareholders.
Pacific Rim Cobalt’s Board of Directors may, in its discretion, approve asset or corporate acquisitions or investments
(including acquisitions outside the mining industry) that do not conform to these guidelines based upon the Board
of Directors' discretion, in accordance with prescribed legal requirements.
To reach the foregoing objectives, Pacific Rim Cobalt will target the following milestones. Certain timeframes to
reach the different business objectives and milestones may be adjusted depending on the availability of funds.
The following table summarizes each significant event that must occur for the business objectives described above
to be accomplished, the time period in which each event is expected to occur and the costs related to each event:
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Objective
Complete exploration program on
the Cyclops Project

Target Date
Over the next 12 months

Projected Cost
$1,000,000

Principal Products or Services
This is not applicable to the Company.
Production and Sales
This is not applicable to the Company.
Lease Arrangements
This is not applicable to the Company.
Brand Recognition
This is not applicable to the Company.
Seasonality
This is not applicable to the Company.
Material Negotiations
The Company is not currently in any material negotiations. For a list of contracts potentially having a material impact
on the Company’ business over the next 12 months (please see Section 22 ‐ Materials Contracts below).
Employees
Pacific Rim Cobalt has no direct employees. CPA HK, Pacific Rim Cobalt’s Hong Kong subsidiary, hires individuals in
country for work on the Cyclops Project in Indonesia.
Revenues
This is not applicable to the Company.
Funds Available and Use of Funds
The Company’s recurring cash requirements include executive compensation, exploration and development costs,
property payments, administrative and public company costs. There may be circumstances, where for business
reasons, a reallocation of funds may be necessary in order for Pacific Rim Cobalt to achieve its stated business
objectives.
As at the date of this Listing Statement, the Company had working capital amounting to approximately $967,000
(with $984,000 cash on hand). The table does not include any proceeds that may be available to the Company
through future financings, warrants or incentive stock options (“Options”).
The following table sets out the principal purposes, using approximate amounts, for which the Company intends to
use the estimated funds available to the Company for the 12 months following the date of this Listing Statement.
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Use of Available Funds
Expenditures on Business(1)
CSE Monthly Fees
General and Administrative Expenses(2)

Amount
$300,000
$7,800
$450,000

Notes:
(1) This amount includes but is not limited to, exploration and development programs and option
commitments.
(2) Includes consulting fees, insurance, interests, occupancy costs, professional fees, public company costs and
expenses.
Competitive Conditions
The mineral exploration and mining industry is very competitive and Pacific Rim Cobalt will be required to compete
for the acquisition of mineral permits, claims, leases and other mineral interests for exploration and development
projects. The cobalt market is quite limited in size as well. As a result of this competition, the majority of which is
with companies with greater financial resources than Pacific Rim Cobalt, the Company may not be able to acquire
or retain attractive properties in the future on terms it considers acceptable. The ability of Pacific Rim Cobalt to
acquire and retain mineral properties in the future will depend on its ability to operate and develop its existing
properties and also on its ability to obtain additional financing to fund further exploration activities. Pacific Rim
Cobalt will compete with other mining companies for investment capital with which to fund such projects and for
the recruitment and retention of qualified employees.
Proprietary Protection
This is not applicable to the Company.
Lending and Investment Policies and Restrictions
This is not applicable to the Company.
Bankruptcy and Receivership
The Company has not been the subject of any bankruptcy or any receivership or similar proceedings against the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or any voluntary bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings by the Company
or its subsidiary, since its incorporation.
Material Restructuring
The Company has not completed any reorganizations in its last three financial years.
Social or Environmental Policies
Pacific Rim Cobalt has implemented a code of business conduct and ethics policy that covers a range of business
practices and procedures which sets out key guiding principles of conduct and ethics that Pacific Rim Cobalt expects
of its employees, directors and officers.
4.2 – Asset Backed Securities
The Company does not have any asset backed securities.
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4.3 –Mineral Properties
Cyclops Project
CPA, through CPA HK, holds an option to acquire a 100% interest in the Cyclops Project, formerly referred to as the
TNM Cobalt Project (the "Cyclops Option") subject to a Net Smelter Royalty (“NSR”) as described below.
Under the terms of the Cyclops Option, to earn a 100% interest in the TNM, and thereby indirectly the Cyclops
Project, CPA HK must pay to the owner of TNM aggregate cash payments of US$1,500,000 over a three‐year period
as follows:






US$50,000 within 30 days of execution of the Option Agreement (paid);
US$150,000 on or before December 17, 2017 (paid);
US$150,000 on or before June 17, 2018;
US$250,000 on or before June 17, 2019; and
US$900,000 on or before June 17, 2020.

CPA HK has been appointed as the operator of the Cyclops Project and has the exclusive and sole responsibility of
administering and carrying out the exploration programs on and for maintaining the Cyclops Project. The Option
Agreement includes standard representations, warranties and termination provisions.
In addition, CPA HK has agreed, pursuant to a letter agreement dated July 1, 2017, to grant to a private individual a
2% net smelter royalty on the Cyclops Project.
Technical Report on the Cyclops Project
A Technical Report dated July 11, 2017 on the Cyclops Project prepared for Pacific Rim Cobalt by Glenn S. Griesbach,
B.Sc., P. Geo, in accordance with National Instrument 43‐101, is available for review on www.sedar.com. Readers
are encouraged to review the entire Technical Report.
4.4 –Oil and Gas Operations
The Company does not have oil and gas operations.
5.

Selected Consolidated Financial Information

5.1 – Annual Information
The information below should be read in conjunction with the management’s discussion and analysis ("MD&A"), the
audited consolidated financial statements and related notes and other financial information, all of which are
available at www.sedar.com. This selected financial information has been prepared using accounting policies in
compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee.
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Financial Year
ended
December 31, 2018
($)
Total Revenues
Income (Loss) from continuing
operations
‐ per share
Net Income (Loss)
‐ per share
Total Assets
Total Long Term Liabilities

Financial Period
ended
December 31, 2017
($)

Financial Year
ended
December 31, 2016
($)

nil
(5,847,234)

nil
(3,916,184)

‐
‐

(0.11)
(5,847,234)
(0.11)
2,434,746
nil

(0.18)
(3,916,184)
(0.18)
6,299,427
nil

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

The Company has not declared any cash dividends as of the date hereof and does not currently have a dividend
policy.
To date, the Company has incurred losses and further losses are anticipated as the Company further develops its
business.
5.2 – Quarterly Information
The following table sets forth summary financial information for the Company for the eight most recently completed
interim periods ending at the end of the most recently completed financial year end (December 31, 2018). This
summary financial information should only be read in conjunction with the Company’s consolidated financial
statements, including the notes thereto.
2018
Q4
($)
Total Revenues
Income (Loss) from
continuing operations
‐ per share
Net Income (Loss)
‐ per share

2017

Q3
($)

Q2
($)

Q1
($)

Q4
($)

Q3
($)

Q2
($)

Q1
($)

nil
(781,946)

nil
(1,293,338)

nil
(1,866,379)

Nil
(1,905,571)

nil
(3,904,805)

nil
654

nil
(12,033)

‐
‐

(0.02)
(781,946)
(0.02)

(0.02)
(1,293,338)
(0.02)

(0.04)
(1,866,379)
(0.04)

(0.04)
(1,905,571)
(0.04)

(0.18)
(3,904,805)
(0.18)

0.00
654
0.00

(0.00)
(12,033)
(0.00)

‐
‐
‐

5.3 – Dividends
Dividends can be declared by the Company’s Board of Directors when deemed appropriate from time to time. As of
the date of this Listing Statement, the Company has not declared any dividends on the Common Shares and it is
unlikely that earnings will be available for the payment of dividends in the foreseeable future.
5.4 – Foreign GAAP
Not applicable.
6.

Management's Discussion and Analysis

The Company’s MD&A for the year ended December 31, 2018 should be read in conjunction with the consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2018, attached to this Listing Statement as
Schedule "A". The Company’s other public disclosure documents are available for viewing under the Company’s
profile at www.sedar.com.
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7.

Market for Securities

The Company’s Common Shares currently trade on the CSE under the symbol "BOLT" and on the OTCQB under the
symbol "PCRCF".
8.

Consolidated Capitalization

The following table sets forth the consolidated capitalization of the Company as at December 31, 2018 and as of the
date of this Listing Statement:
Authorized

Outstanding as at
December 31, 2018
14,921,992
3,993,750
51,952,691

Warrants
Stock Options
Common Shares
9.

Outstanding as of
this Listing Statement
25,596,991
3,993,750
63,094,358

Option to Purchase Securities

As of the date of this Listing Statement, 3,993,750 Options are outstanding. The maximum aggregate number of
Common Shares reserved for issuance and which may be purchased upon exercise of Options granted is equal to
10% of the issued Common Shares at the time the Option is granted. As of the date of this Listing Statement
6,309,436 Common Shares are reserved for issuance pursuant to the 3,993,750 Options issued as set forth below,
all Options are exercisable as at the date of this Listing Statement as all vesting provisions have been met.
Optionee

Type of Option

Common Shares
Issuance
56,250
900,000

Exercise Price

Expiry Date

$0.1333
$0.3067

May 12, 2021
October 24, 2019

Officers (2)

Stock Option

Directors (3)

Stock Option

600,000
250,000

$0.3067
$0.78

October 24, 2019
November 7, 2019

Officers of Subsidiaries

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Directors of Subsidiaries

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Employees

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Employees of Subsidiaries

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Stock Option

975,000
187,500
25,000
200,000
500,000
300,000

$0.3067
$0.3067
$0.78
$0.76
$0.69
$0.45

October 24, 2019
October 24, 2019
November 7, 2019
November 14, 2019
March 9, 2020
June 12, 2023

Investor Relations

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Other

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Consultants (11)

TOTAL

3,993,750
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The Company's stock option plan (the "Option Plan") is a 10% "rolling" stock option plan. Pursuant to the terms of
the Option Plan, the Board of Directors may designate directors, officers, employees and consultants (and any
subsidiaries thereof) (the "Optionees") of the Company eligible to receive Options. The number of Common Shares
subject to each Option, in addition to the exercise price, vesting period and term of each Option is to be determined
by the Board of Directors.
The maximum aggregate number of Common Shares reserved for issuance and which may be purchased upon
exercise of Options granted is equal to 10% of the issued shares of the Company at the time the Option is granted.
In accordance with its terms, in no case will the grant of Options under the Option Plan result in: (i) the number of
Common Shares reserved for issuance pursuant to Options granted to any one individual, within any twelve‐month
period, exceeding in the aggregate 5% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares; (ii) the number of Common
Shares reserved for issuance pursuant to Options granted all persons engaged by the Company to provide investor
relations activities, within any twelve month period, exceeding in the aggregate 2% of the issued and outstanding
Common Shares; or (iii) the number of Common Shares reserved for issuance pursuant to Options granted to any
one consultant, in any twelve month period, exceeding in the aggregate 2% of the issued and outstanding Common
Shares.
The price at which Common Shares may be purchased under any Option granted pursuant to the Option Plan (the
"Exercise Price") shall not be less than the minimum exercise price determined under the applicable rules and
regulations of all regulatory authorities and stock exchanges to which the Company is or may be subject, including
the CSE. Subject to certain exceptions, any Options granted pursuant to the Option Plan will terminate within 90
days of the Optionee ceasing to be a director, officer, employee or consultant of the Company. Options held by any
Optionee who ceases to be a director, officer, employee or consultant of the Company for "cause" as defined in the
Option Plan, shall terminate immediately. If the Optionee dies during the term of the Option, the Options will expire
one year after the date of the Optionee's death and may be exercised by the Optionee's legal personal representative
until that time, or until the expiry date of the Option, whichever is earlier.
10.

Description of the Securities

10.1 – Description of the Company’s Securities
The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Common Shares without par value. As of the date hereof,
there are 63,094,358 Common Shares issued and outstanding.
The holders of Common Shares are entitled to receive notice of and to attend all meetings of the Shareholders and
shall have one vote for each Common Share held at all meetings of the Shareholders. The holders of Common Shares
are entitled to: (a) receive any dividends as and when declared by the Board of Directors, out of the assets of the
Company properly applicable to the payment of dividends, in such amount and in such form as the Board of Directors
may from time to time determine; and (b) receive the remaining property of the Company (after payment of all
outstanding debts) in the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding‐up of the Company. The holders of the
Common Shares have no pre‐emptive, redemption or conversion rights, sinking or purchase fund provisions,
provisions permitting or restricting the issuance of additional securities or provisions requiring a securityholder to
contribute additional capital.
10.2 – 10.6 – Miscellaneous Securities Provisions
None of the matters set out in sections 10.2 to 10.6 of CSE Form 2A are applicable.
10.7 – Prior Sales of Common Shares
The following table summarizes the issuances of Common Shares or securities convertible into Common Shares for
the 12 month period prior to the date of the Listing Statement.
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Date Issued

June 7, 2018
June 8, 2018
June 19, 2018
February 12, 2019
February 12, 2019
March 5, 2019
June 6, 2019

Number of Common
Shares
Issued/Issuable

Class of Security

Common Shares(1)
Common Shares
Common Shares
Common Shares(2)
Warrants(3)
Common Shares(4)
Common Shares(5)

Price/Deemed
Price/Exercise
Price of Security

48,213
74,250
324,750
10,541,667
10,541,667
600,000
600,000

$0.3333
$0.3333
$0.3333
$0.12
$0.20
$0.18
$0.30

Notes:
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

The Common Shares were issued due to exercise of warrants with each warrant exercisable at $0.3333
per Common Share.
The Common Shares were issued in exchange for $1,265,000 in cash for the financing that closed
February 12, 2019.
Each warrant is exercisable into one Common Share at $0.20 until February 12, 2020.
The Common Shares were issued to settle indebtedness in the amount of $108,000.
The Common Shares were issued to settle indebtedness in the amount of $180,000.

10.8 – Stock Exchange Price
The Common Shares are listed and posted for trading on the CSE under the trading symbol "BOLT". The following
table sets forth the high and low price ranges and the volume of the trading of the Common Shares, on days which
there was trading activity, on the CSE for the periods indicated.
Price Range Per Common Share
High
Low
$0.15
June, 2019(1)
May, 2019
$0.19
April, 2019
$0.30
March, 2019
$0.25
February, 2019
$0.18
January, 2019
$0.18
December, 2018
$0.13
November, 2018
$0.14
October, 2018
$0.13
September, 2018
$0.22
August, 2018
$0.28
July, 2018
$0.37
June, 2018
$0.43
Notes:
(1)
Up to and including June 25, 2019.
11.

$0.14
$0.18
$0.28
$0.23
$0.17
$0.16
$0.12
$0.13
$0.12
$0.20
$0.26
$0.35
$0.39

Volume
175,275
58,038
97,576
246,206
39,805
86,926
84,074
82,699
77,230
100,242
87,100
179,829
272,684

Escrowed Securities

As of the date of this Listing Statement the following Common Shares of the Company are held in escrow:
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Designation of class held in escrow

Number of securities
held in escrow
7,425,000 (1)

Common Shares

Percentage of class
11.77%

Notes:
1. Held in escrow pursuant to an escrow agreement with Computershare Trust Company dated October 23,
2017 with release dates remaining of October 23, 2019 and April 23, 2020 (the “Share Exchange Escrow
Agreement”).
12.

Principal Shareholders

To the knowledge of Company, there are no beneficial owners or persons exercising control or direction over
Common Shares carrying more than 10% of the outstanding voting rights as of the date of this Listing Statement.
12.1. – Voting Trusts
To the knowledge of the Company, no voting trust exists within the Company such that more than 10 percent of any
class of voting securities of the Company are held, or are to be held, subject to any voting trust or similar agreement.
12.2. – Associates and Affiliates
This section is not applicable.
13.

Directors and Officers

13.1 – 13.3 – Directors and Officers
The following table sets forth the names and location of residence of the officers and directors of the Company, their
positions and their principal occupations:
Name and Municipality of
Residence

Number of
Common
Shares
3,260,000
5.17%(4)

Position with the
Company(5)

Principal Occupation for the Past 5
Years
President and CEO of the Company;
Director of Corporate Development of
DeepMarkit Corp. June 2014 to present.

Ranjeet Sundher
West Vancouver, B.C., Canada

Director, President
and CEO

Steve Vanry
West Vancouver, B.C., Canada

Director and CFO

1,000,349
1.59%(4)

Self‐employed business consultant.

Sean Bromley(1)(2)
West Vancouver, B.C., Canada

Director

361,250
0.57%(4)

Chief Financial Officer of the Parmar
Group.

J. Garry Clark(1)(2)
Denver, Colorado, USA

Director

9,375
0.01%(4)

President and CEO of the Corporation.
Previously independent consultant and
Adjunct Professor Colorado School of
Mines.

Tim Johnston(1)(2)
Victoria, B.C., Canada

Director

Nil

President and Chief Executive Officer of
Desert Lion Energy Inc.
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Name and Municipality of
Residence
Geoffrey Fielding(1)
Pasig City, Manila, Philippines

Position with the
Company(5)

Number of
Common
Shares
Nil

Director

Principal Occupation for the Past 5
Years
Self‐employed consultant.

Notes:
(1) Independent Director.
(2) Member of the Audit Committee.
(3) Each director’s term of office will expire at the next annual meeting of the shareholders unless re‐elected
at such meeting.
(4) Based on 63,094,358 Common Shares issued and outstanding as of the date of this Listing Statement.
13.4 – Board Committees of the Company
The Company currently has the following committee:
Audit Committee
The purpose of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board of Directors in discharging its responsibilities with respect
to: the integrity of the financial statements and the financial reporting process; external and internal audits;
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; internal controls; financial risk management; and disclosure.
13.5 – Principal Occupation of Directors and Officers
See table 13.1 – 13.3 above.
13.6 – Corporate Cease Trade Orders or Bankruptcies
No director, officer or a shareholder of the Company holding a sufficient number of securities of the Company to
affect materially the control of the Company other than disclosed herein:
(a) is, as at the date of this Listing Statement, or has been, within ten years before the date of this Listing Statement,
a director or officer of any company, including the Company, that:
(i) was subject to a cease trade order or similar order or an order that denied the relevant company access to
any exemption under Ontario securities law, that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days
while that person was acting in the capacity as director or officer; or
(ii) was subject to a cease trade or similar order or an order that denied the company access to any exemption
under securities legislation, that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days, that was issued
after the person ceased to be a director or officer of the company and which resulted from an event that
occurred while that person was acting in the capacity as director or officer; or
(b) is as at the date of this Listing Statement or has been within the 10 years before the date of this Listing Statement,
a director or officer of any company, including the Company, that while that person was acting in that capacity, or
within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation
relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise
with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets; or
(c) has, within the 10 years before the date of this Listing Statement, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any
legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangements
or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of that
person.
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13.7 ‐ 13.8 ‐ Penalties Sanctions and Settlements
No director, officer, or promoter of the Company, or any shareholder anticipated to hold a sufficient amount of
securities of the Company to materially affect control of the Company, has been subject to any penalties or sanctions
imposed by a court relating to Canadian securities legislation or by a Canadian securities regulatory authority or has
entered into a settlement agreement with a Canadian securities regulatory authority or has been subject to any
other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body or self‐regulatory authority that would be likely
to be considered important to a reasonable investor making an investment decision.
13.9 – Personal Bankruptcies
No director, officer or promoter of the Company, or a shareholder anticipated to hold a sufficient amount of
securities of the Company to affect materially the control of the Company, or a personal holding company of any
such persons, has, within the 10 years preceding the date of this Listing Statement, become bankrupt, made a
proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or been subject to or instituted any proceedings,
arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the
assets of the individual.
13.10 – Conflicts of Interest
Conflicts of interest may arise as a result of the directors, officers and promoters of the Company also holding
positions as directors or officers of other companies. Some of the individuals who are directors and officers of the
Company have been and will continue to be engaged in the identification and evaluation of assets, businesses and
companies on their own behalf and on behalf of other companies, and situations may arise where the directors and
officers of the Company will be in direct competition with the Company. Conflicts, if any, will be subject to the
procedures and remedies provided under the BCBCA.
13.11 – Directors and Officers
Other than as set forth below, no director or officer has entered into a non‐competition, nondisclosure, or
confidentiality agreement with the Company.
Ranjeet Sundher – President, Chief Executive Officer and Director (Age 53)
Mr. Sundher has been the President and sole director of the Company since October 23, 2017. Mr. Sundher has over
20 years of capital markets experience and has founded, developed and funded several successful public companies.
Mr. Sundher is the former CEO and President of Red Hill Mining Inc. (currently Prophecy Development Corp.), a
company listed on the TSX Venture Exchange with late stage development properties in Mongolia.
Mr. Sundher is an independent contractor of the Company and will spend the time necessary in order to complete
his duties and responsibilities as an officer and director of the Company.
The Company has not entered into a non‐competition, or confidentiality agreement with Mr. Sundher
Steve Vanry – CFO, Director and Corporate Secretary (Age 53)
Mr. Vanry was appointed as a director and Chief Financial Officer of the Company on April 24, 2017 and as Corporate
Secretary an April 26, 2019. Mr. Vanry has 25‐years professional experience in senior management positions with
public and private companies, providing expertise in capital markets, strategic planning, corporate finance, mergers
and acquisitions, regulatory compliance, accounting and financial reporting. Mr. Vanry is a principal in Vanry Capital
Partners, a firm specializing in orchestrating and facilitating the "go‐public" process for private natural resource
companies. He currently serves as a director and officer of several public companies in the mining sector. He holds
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the right to use the Chartered Finance Analyst (CFA) and Canadian Investment Manager (CIM) designations and is a
member of the CFA Institute and the Vancouver Society of Financial Analysts.
The Company has not entered into a non‐competition, or confidentiality agreement with Mr. Vanry
Mr. Vanry is an independent contractor of the Company and will spend the time necessary in order to complete his
duties and responsibilities as an officer and director of the Company.
Sean Bromey – Director and Member of the Audit Committee (Age 29)
Mr. Bromley joined the board of directors of Company on October 23, 2017. Mr. Bromley received his Bachelor of
Commerce in Finance at the University of Calgary with an exchange at the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology. After university, he became an Investment Advisor at Jordan Capital Markets specializing in technology
and special situations. Mr. Bromley is a member of the Company of Young Professionals at the Vancouver Board of
Trade, as well as being involved in numerous technology events such as the Technology Leadership Forum. Sean is
also a director of several TSX.V listed companies.
Mr. Bromley has not entered into a non‐competition, or confidentiality agreement with the Company. It is expected
that Mr. Bromley will devote the time necessary in order to complete his duties and responsibilities as a director of
the Company.
J. Garry Clark – Director and Member of the Audit Committee (Age 59)
Mr. Clark joined the board of directors of the Company on October 23, 2017. Mr. Clark is a Professional Geologist
registered with the Association of Professional Geoscientists of Ontario. He has held various exploration geological
positions with both major and junior explorers. In the late 1980's Mr. Clark began his consulting career with a lengthy
list of projects across Ontario and globally. Mr. Clark is the Executive Director of the Ontario Prospectors Association
(OPA) since the restructuring in 2000 and has been a Director, Vice President or President of the OPA since its
formation in the early 1990's. Mr. Clark serves on various provincial government committees and boards that
support mineral explorers, including the Minister of Mines Mining Act Advisory Committee and Ontario Geological
Survey Advisory Board.
Mr. Clark has not entered into a non‐competition, or confidentiality agreement with the Company. It is expected
that Mr. Clark will devote the time necessary in order to complete his duties and responsibilities as a director of the
Company.
Tim Johnston – Director and Member of the Audit Committee (Age 33)
Mr. Johnston joined the board of directors of the Company on November 23, 2017. Mr. Johnston is President and
Chief Executive Officer of Desert Lion Energy, a company developing the first large scale lithium mine in Namibia. He
was formerly Hatch’s specialist in project management and transactional analysis for their global lithium and battery
business. During his time with Hatch, he evaluated hundreds of battery metals projects, and managed the
development of battery metals projects around the world for Lion Ore, Vale, Xstrata, SQM, Rockwood Lithium
(Albemarle), Bacanora Minerals, AMG‐NV, Rio Tinto, Galaxy Resources and other key developers. He has co‐
authored 7 technical publications with a focus on project execution. Mr. Johnston is a chartered professional
engineer (CPEng) and CFA charterholder.
Mr. Johnston has not entered into a non‐competition, or confidentiality agreement with the Company. It is expected
that Mr. Johnston will devote the time necessary in order to complete his duties and responsibilities as a director
of the Company.
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Geoffrey Fielding – Director (Age 76)
Mr. Fielding joined the board of directors of the Company on July 5, 2018. Mr. Fielding was educated at the Sorbonne
in Paris and has an LLB from the Faculty of Law at the London School of Economics. He was an equity partner at
Grenfell & Colegrave, one of the oldest city of London Stockholding firms before the company was acquired by CIBC,
Canada’s largest retail bank. As a London Director of CIBC’s Investment Division, Geoffrey founded up the overseas
investment division in the Carribean where he built up and managed funds of over US$ 1 billion in 3 years. In 2007,
Geoffrey moved to South‐east Asia where he is now based. He is currently President and CEO of All State Asset
Management in Asia, a Chinese asset investment management company. And is Chairman of Wealth Technology
Limited, A Malaysian wealth fund. Mr. Fielding advises both these companies on investment opportunities as well
as several other Hong Kong and International clients.
Mr. Fielding has not entered into a non‐competition, or confidentiality agreement with the Company. It is expected
that Mr. Fielding will devote the time necessary in order to complete his duties and responsibilities as a director of
the Company.
14.

Capitalization

14.1 – Capitalization
Issued Capital: Common Shares
Number of
Securities
(non‐diluted)

Number
of
Securities
(fully‐diluted)

% of Issued
(non‐diluted)

% of Issued
(fully diluted)

Public Float
Total outstanding (A)

63,094,358

92,685,099

100%

100%

Held by Related Persons or
employees of the Issuer or
Related Person of the Issuer, or
by persons or companies who
beneficially own or control,
directly or indirectly, more than a
5% voting position in the Issuer
(or who would beneficially own
or control, directly or indirectly,
more than a 5% voting position in
the Issuer upon exercise or
conversion of other securities
held) (B)

15,094,165

17,983,748

23.92%

19.40%

Total Public Float (A‐B)

48,000,193

74,701,351

76.07%

80.59%

7,425,000

7,425,000

11.76%

8.01%

Freely‐Tradeable Float
Number of outstanding securities
subject to resale restrictions,
including restrictions imposed by
pooling or other arrangements or
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Number of
Securities
(non‐diluted)

Number
of
Securities
(fully‐diluted)

% of Issued
(non‐diluted)

85,260,099

64.30%

% of Issued
(fully diluted)

in a shareholder agreement and
securities held by control block
holders (C)
Total Tradeable Float
(A‐C)

40,575,193

91.98%

Public Securityholders (Registered)
Class of Security

Common Shares
Number of holders

Total number of securities

1 – 99 securities

5

324

100 – 499 securities

4

1,066

500 – 999 securities

2

1,428

1,000 – 1,999 securities

2

3,098

2,000 – 2,999 securities

2

4,724

3,000 – 3,999 securities

9

33,168

4,000 – 4,999 securities

0

0

5,000 or more securities

34

63,650,540

Total

58

63,694,358

Size of Holding

Public Securityholders (Beneficial)
Class of Security

Common Shares
Number of holders

Total number of securities

66

2,327

100 – 499 securities

104

25,653

500 – 999 securities

67

43,401

1,000 – 1,999 securities

92

106,765

2,000 – 2,999 securities

63

141,406

3,000 – 3,999 securities

31

101,289

Size of Holding
1 – 99 securities
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4,000 – 4,999 securities

25

105,648

5,000 or more securities

325

42,930,944

Nil

Nil

Unable to confirm

Non‐Public Securityholders (Registered)

Class of Security

Common Shares
Number of holders

Total number of securities

5,000 or more securities

7

15,094,165

Total

7

15,094,165

Size of Holding
1 – 99 securities
100 – 499 securities
500 – 999 securities
1,000 – 1,999 securities
2,000 – 2,999 securities
3,000 – 3,999 securities
4,000 – 4,999 securities

14.2 – Convertible/Exchangeable Securities
The following table sets out information regarding securities convertible or exchangeable into Common Shares as of
the date of this Listing Statement:
Description of Security
(include
conversion/exercise/terms,
including conversion/exercise
price)
Stock Options ($0.3067)(1)
Stock Options ($0.78)(2)
Stock Options ($0.76)(3)
Stock Options ($0.69)(4)
Stock Options ($0.45)(5)
Warrants(6)
Warrants(7)
Warrants(8)
Agents Warrant(9)

Number of
convertible/exchangeable
securities outstanding

Number of listed securities
issuable upon conversion/exercise

2,850,000
275,000
200,000
500,000
300,000
10,541,667
338,332
4,801,602
164,600

2,475,000
275,000
200,000
500,000
300,000
10,541,667
338,332
4,801,602
164,600
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Description of Security
(include
conversion/exercise/terms,
including conversion/exercise
price)
Agents Units(10)
Warrants(11)
Agents Warrant(12)

Number of
convertible/exchangeable
securities outstanding

Number of listed securities
issuable upon conversion/exercise

133,333
8,835,401
782,057

133,333
8,835,401
782,057

Notes:
(1) Each Option is exercisable for one Common Share at a price of $0.3067 per Common Share expiring October

24, 2019. 2,850,000 Options are currently exercisable.
(2) Each Option is exercisable for one Common Share at a price of $0.78 per Common Share expiring November

7, 2019. 275,000 Options are currently exercisable.
(3) Each Option is exercisable for one Common Share at a price of $0.76 per Common Share expiring November

14, 2019. 200,000 Options are currently exercisable.
(4) Each Option is exercisable for one Common Share at a price of $0.69 per Common Share expiring March 9,

2020. 500,000 Options are currently exercisable.
(5) Each Option is exercisable for one Common Share at a price of $0.45 per Common Share expiring June 12,

2023. 300,000 Options are currently exercisable.
(6) Each warrant is exercisable into one Common Share at $0.20 until February 12, 2020.
(7) Each warrant is exercisable into one Common Share at $1.00 until January 22, 2020.
(8) Each warrant is exercisable into one Common Share at $1.00 until December 22, 2019.
(9) Each agents warrant is exercisable into one Common Share at $1.00 until December 22, 2019.
(10) Each agents unit is exercisable into one Common Share at $0.75 and one agents warrant exercisable at

$1.00 until December 22, 2019.
(11) Each warrant is exercisable into one Common Share at $0.3333 until October 22, 2019.
(12) Each agents warrant is exercisable into one Common Share at $0.3333 until October 22, 2019.

14.3 – Other Listed Securities
The Company has no other listed securities reserved for issuance.
15.

Executive Compensation

15.1 – Compensation of Executive Officers and Directors
The Company’s Statement of Executive Compensation for the most recent financial year, December 31, 2018, is
attached in Schedule "B".
16.

Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers

No director or officer of the Company or person who acted in such capacity in the last financial year, or any other
individual who at any time during the most recently completed financial year of the Company was a director of the
Company or any associate of the Company, is indebted to the Company, nor is any indebtedness of any such person
to another entity the subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement or
understanding provided by the Company.
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17.

Risk Factors

17.1 – Description of Risk Factors
An investor should carefully consider the following risk factors in addition to the other information contained in this
Listing Statement. The risks and uncertainties below are not the only ones related to the Company. There are
additional risks and uncertainties that the Company does not presently know of or that the Company currently
considers immaterial which may also impair the Company's business operations. If any of the following risks occur,
the Company's business may be harmed, and its financial condition and results of operations may suffer significantly.
An investment in the Company’s shares is speculative and will be subject to certain material risks. Investors should
not invest in securities of the Company unless they can afford to lose their entire investment.
General
An investment in the shares is speculative and involves a high degree of risk due to the nature of the Company’s
business and the present stage of the Company’s operations. The following risk factors, as well as risks not currently
known to the Company, could materially adversely affect the Company’s future business, operations and financial
condition and could cause them to differ materially from the estimates described in forward‐looking statements
contained herein. Prospective investors should carefully consider the following risk factors along with the other
matters set out herein.
An investment in the Company will be subject to certain material risks and investors should not invest in securities
of the Company unless they can afford to lose their entire investment. A purchase of any of the securities of the
Company involves a high degree of risk and should be undertaken only by purchasers whose financial resources are
enough to enable them to assume such risks and who have no need for immediate liquidity in their investment. An
investment in the securities of the Company should not constitute a major portion of an individual’s investment
portfolio and should only be made by persons who can afford a total loss of their investment. Prospective purchasers
should evaluate carefully the following risk factors associated with an investment in the Company’s securities prior to
purchasing any of the securities.
Limited Operating History
The Company is a relatively new company with limited operating history and no history of business or mining
operations, revenue generation or production history. The Company has yet to generate a profit from its activities.
The Company is subject to all the business risks and uncertainties associated with any new business enterprise,
including the risk that it will not achieve its growth objective. The Company anticipates that it may take several years
to achieve positive cash flow from operations.
Exploration, Development and Operating Risks
The exploration for and development of minerals involves significant risks, which even a combination of careful
evaluation, experience and knowledge may not eliminate. Few properties which are explored are ultimately
developed into producing mines. There can be no guarantee that the estimates of quantities and qualities of minerals
disclosed will be economically recoverable. With all mining operations there is uncertainty and, therefore, risk
associated with operating parameters and costs. Mineral exploration is speculative in nature and there can be no
assurance that any minerals discovered will be discovered in enough quantities to warrant commercial exploitation.
The Company’s operations will be subject to all the hazards and risks normally encountered in the mineral
exploration business. These include unusual and unexpected geological formations, rock falls, seismic activity,
flooding and other conditions which could result in damage and possible legal liability. This could have a material
adverse impact on the business, operations and financial performance of the Company.
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Substantial Capital Requirements and Liquidity
Substantial additional funds will be required and there can be no assurances given that the Company will be able to
raise the necessary funds. To meet such funding requirements, the Company may undertake additional equity
financing which would be dilutive to shareholders. There is no assurance that additional financing will be available
on terms acceptable to the Company or at all. If the Company is unable to obtain additional financing as needed, it
may reduce or discontinue operations.
Political and Social Risk in Indonesia
The Company will be conducting its exploration and development activities in Indonesia. The Company believes that
the Government of Indonesia strongly supports the development of its natural resources by foreign operators.
However, there is no assurance that future political and economic conditions in Indonesia will not result in the
government adopting different policies respecting foreign development and ownership of mineral resources. Any
such changes in policy may result in changes in laws affecting ownership of assets, taxation, rates of exchange,
environmental protection, labour relations, repatriation of income and return of capital, which may affect both the
ability of the Resulting Issuer to undertake exploration and development activities in respect of future properties in
the manner currently contemplated, as well as its ability to continue to explore and develop those properties in
respect of which it has obtained exploration and development rights to date. The possibility that a future
government of Indonesia may adopt substantially different policies, which might extend to expropriation of assets,
cannot be ruled out.
Instabilities can exist in relation to both the national government and local government. Certain political events can
affect the enforceability of regional head’s decrees or writs, especially in the mining and exploration industries which
have strong connections with local autonomy and local authorities.
Taxation regulations are also flexible and subject to change, which may cause the Resulting Issuer to incur additional
taxation costs.
The economy of Indonesia differs significantly from the economies of Canada, the United States and Western Europe
in such respects as structure, level of development, gross national product, growth rate, capital reinvestment,
resource allocation, self‐sufficiency, rate of inflation and balance of payments position, among others. Growth rates,
inflation rates and interest rates of developing nations are expected to be more volatile than those of western
industrial countries. The Resulting Issuer’s operations will be located in Indonesia and so are subject to risks
associated with operating in a foreign jurisdiction, including political, infrastructure, legal and other unique risks.
Competition
There is competition within the mining industry for properties considered to have commercial potential. The
Company will compete with other mining companies, many of which have greater financial, technical and other
resources than the Company, for, among other things, the acquisition of minerals claims, leases and other mineral
interests as well as for the recruitment and retention of qualified employees and other personnel.
Reliance on Management and Dependence on Key Personnel
The success of the Company will be largely dependent upon on the performance of its directors and officers and the
ability to attract and retain its key personnel. The loss of the services of these persons may have a material adverse
effect on the Company's business and prospects. The Company will compete with numerous other companies for
the recruitment and retention of qualified employees and contractors. There is no assurance that the Company can
maintain the service of its directors and officers or other qualified personnel required to operate its business. Failure
to do so could have a material adverse effect on the Company and its prospects.
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Fluctuating Mineral Prices and Marketability of Minerals
The market price of any mineral is volatile and is affected by many factors beyond the Company's control, including
but not limited to: international supply and demand, consumer product demand levels, international economic
trends, commodity prices, operations costs, variations in mineral grade, fluctuations in the market price of minerals,
currency exchange rate fluctuations, the level of interest rates, the rate of inflation, global or regional political events
and international events as well as a range of other market forces. Depending on the price of certain minerals, the
Company may determine that it is impractical to continue its mineral exploration operations. Sustained downward
movements in mineral market prices could render less economic, or uneconomic, some or all of the mineral
exploration activities to be undertaken by the Company. The marketability of minerals is affected by factors such as
government regulation of mineral prices, royalties, allowable production and the importation and exportation of
minerals, the effect of which cannot be accurately predicted.
No Mineral Reserves or Mineral Resources
The Cyclops Project is in the early exploration stage only and does not contain a known body of commercial minerals.
Environmental Risks
All phases of the mining business present environmental risks and hazards and are subject to environmental
regulation pursuant to a variety of international conventions and prevailing governing laws and regulations.
Environmental legislation regulates various substances produced or used in association with mining operations. The
legislation also requires that operations sites be maintained, abandoned and reclaimed to the satisfaction of
applicable regulatory authorities. Compliance with such legislation can require significant expenditures and a breach
may result in the imposition of fines and penalties, some of which may be material. Environmental legislation is
evolving in a manner expected to result in stricter standards and enforcement, larger fines and liability, all of which
will increase capital expenditures and operating costs.
Governmental Regulations and Processing Licenses and Permits
The activities of the Company are subject to government approvals, various laws governing prospecting,
development, land resumptions, production taxes, labour standards and occupational health, mine safety, toxic
substances and other matters. Although the Company believes that its activities are currently carried out in
accordance with all applicable rules and regulations, no assurance can be given that new rules and regulations will
not be enacted or that existing rules and regulations will not be applied in a manner which could limit or curtail
production or development. Amendments to current laws and regulations governing operations and activities of
exploration and mining, or more stringent implementation thereof, could have a material adverse impact on the
business, operations and financial performance of the Company. Further, the mining licenses and permits issued in
respect of its projects may be subject to conditions which, if not satisfied, may lead to the revocation of such licenses.
In the event of revocation, the value of the Company's investments in such projects may decline.
Management Inexperience in Developing Mines
The proposed management of the Company will have some experience in exploring for minerals but may lack some
of the necessary technical training and experience to successfully develop and operate a mine. Without adequate
training or experience in these areas, management may not be fully aware of many of the specific requirements
related to working within the mining industry and their decisions and choices may not consider all available and
necessary engineering or managerial approaches that experienced mine operating companies commonly use to
successfully develop a mine. Consequently, the Company's operations, earnings and ultimate financial success could
be materially adversely affected.
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Markets for Securities
There can be no assurance that an active trading market in the Company’s Common Shares will be established and
sustained. The market price for the Company’s Common Shares could be subject to wide fluctuations. Factors such
as commodity prices, government regulation, interest rates, share price movements of the Company's peer
companies and competitors, as well as overall market movements, may have a significant impact on the market price
of the securities of the Company. The stock market has from time to time experienced extreme price and volume
fluctuations, particularly in the mining sector.
Uninsurable Risks
Exploration operations on mineral properties involve numerous risks, including unexpected or unusual geological
operating conditions, rock bursts, cave‐ins, fires, floods, earthquakes and other environmental occurrences. It is not
always possible to obtain insurance against all such risks and the Company may decide not to insure against certain
risks because of high premiums or for other reasons. Should there be the occurrence of such an event, it could have
an adverse impact on the Company. The Company does not intend to maintain insurance against environmental
risks.
Foreign Exchange
The Company may be adversely affected by future fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. For example, to the extent
the actual Canadian to U.S. dollar exchange rate is less than or more than the exchange rate used in this Listing
Statement, the costs to complete the exploration program on Cerro Hermoso Property as set out in the Technical
Report will increase and thereby decrease funds available for general and administrative expenses and the
Company's available unallocated capital.
Internal Controls
Ensuring that the Company has adequate internal financial and accounting controls and procedures in place so that
the Company can produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis is a costly and time‐consuming effort.
Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS. If the Company
or its independent audit firm identify deficiencies in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that are
deemed to be material weaknesses, the market's confidence in the Company’s financial statements could decline
and the market price of the Company’s securities could be adversely impacted.
Stage of Development
The Company may be subject to growth‐related risks, capacity constraints and pressure on the Company’s internal
systems and controls, particularly given the early stage of the Company’s development. The ability of the Company
to manage growth effectively will require the Company to continue to expand its operations and to train and manage
the Company’s employee base. The inability of the Company to deal with this growth could have a material adverse
impact on the Company’s business, operations and prospects.
Legal Risks
The Company is subject to legal risks related to operations, contracts, relationships and otherwise, pursuant to which
Pacific Rim Cobalt may be served with legal claims. Whether or not the claims are legally valid, such claims may result
in legal fees, damages, settlement costs and other costs as well as significant time and distraction of management
and employees.
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Conflicts of Interest
Conflicts of interest for the directors and officers of the Company, if any, will be subject to and governed by the
procedures prescribed by the BCBCA which require a director or officer of a corporation who is a party to, or is a
director or an officer of, or has a material interest in any person who is a party to, a material contract or proposed
material contract with the Company to disclose his or her interest and, in the case of directors, to refrain from voting
on any matter in respect of such contract unless otherwise permitted under the BCBCA.
Absence of Cash Dividends
Pacific Rim Cobalt has not paid any cash dividends to date on its Common Shares and there are no plans for the
Company to pay such dividend payments in the foreseeable future.
Additional Risks
Please refer to the Company’s consolidated financial statements and management’s discussion and analysis for the
year ended December 31, 2018 included in Schedule "A" and incorporated by reference into this Listing Statement
for additional risk factors.
17.2 – Additional Securityholder Risk
There is no risk that securityholders of the Company may become liable to make an additional contribution beyond
the price of the security.
17.3 – Other Risks
Subject to the risk factors set out under section 17.1 above, there are no other material risk factors that a reasonable
investor would consider relevant to an investment in the Company’s shares.
18.

Promoters

18.1 – 18.3 – Promoter Consideration
Aaron Wong conducts investor relations activities on behalf of the Company. Mr. Wong has an office address of 2321
Jefferson Avenue, West Vancouver, B.C., V7V 2B1 and was engaged as the Company’s investor relations consultant
in June 2018.
Mr. Wong is paid $2,500 per month for his services and currently holds 67,500 Common Shares, 100,000 warrants
and has no other direct or indirect interests in the Company.
Mr. Wong has not been, as at the date hereof, or was within 10 years before the date hereof, a director, chief
executive officer, or chief financial officer of any company that:
(a)

was subject to an order that was issued while acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or
chief financial officer; or

(b)

was subject to an order that was issued after they ceased to be a director, chief executive officer or chief
financial officer and which resulted from an event that occurred while acting in the capacity as director,
chief executive officer or chief financial officer,
For the purposes of this section “order” means:
(a)

a cease trade order;
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(b)

an order similar to a cease trade order; or

(c)

an order that denied the relevant person or company access to any exemption under
securities legislation, that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days.

Mr. Wong has not been:
(a)

as at the date hereof, or has been within the 10 years before the date hereof, a director or executive officer
of any person or company that, while acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person ceasing to act
in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or
insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or
had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets; or

(b)

has, within the 10 years before the date hereof, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation
relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or
compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of
the promoter.

Mr. Wong has not been subject to:
(a)

any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to provincial and territorial securities legislation or
by a provincial and territorial securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement
with a provincial and territorial securities regulatory authority; or

(b)

any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would be likely to be considered
important to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision.

19.

Legal Proceedings

19.1 ‐ Legal Proceedings
There are no legal proceedings material to the Company to which the Company is a party or of which any of its
property is the subject matter, and there are no such proceedings known to the Company to be contemplated.
19.2 – Regulatory Actions
The Company has not been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by any court or regulatory authority
relating to provincial or territorial securities legislation or by a securities regulatory authority within the three years
immediately preceding the date of this Listing Statement, nor has the Company entered into a settlement
agreement with a securities regulatory authority within the three years immediately preceding the date of this
Listing Statement or been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body or self‐
regulatory authority that are necessary to provide full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the
Company’s securities or would be likely to be considered important to a reasonable investor making an investment
decision.
20.

Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions

Except as described herein, no director, executive officer, proposed management nominee for director or person
who, to the knowledge of the directors or officers of the Company, beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, or
exercises control or direction over more than 10% of any class or series of outstanding voting securities of the
Company, informed person or any associate or affiliate of the foregoing has any material interest, direct or indirect,
in any transaction within the three years before the date of this Listing Statement or in any proposed transaction,
which, in either case, has materially affected or will materially affect the Company or a subsidiary of the Company.
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21.

Auditors, Transfer Agents and Registrars

21.1 – Auditors
The firm of Davidson & Company LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants ("D&Co") is the independent external
auditor of the Company with a Vancouver office address of 1200 – 609 Granville Street, Vancouver, B.C., V7Y 1G6.
D&Co was first appointed as auditor of the Company in June of 2010.
21.2 – Transfer Agent and Registrar
The registrar and transfer agent of the Company’s shares is Computershare Trust Company of Canada, at its
Vancouver office located at suite 510 Burrard Street – 2nd Floor, Vancouver B.C., V6C 3B9.
22.

Material Contracts

22.1 – Material Contracts
The Company has entered into the following material contracts:
1.
2.

the Share Exchange Agreement; and
the Share Exchange Escrow Agreement;

CPA has entered into the following material contract:
1.

the Share Exchange Agreement.

CPA HK has entered into the following material contracts:
1.
2.

the Share Exchange Agreement; and
the Option Agreement.

Other than as outlined above, the Company has not entered into any other material contracts within the two years
before the date of this Listing Statement other than contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business.
22.2 – Special Agreements
The Company is not a party to any co‐tenancy, unitholders’ or limited partnership agreements.
23.

Interest of Experts

No person or company whose profession or business gives authority to a statement made by the person or company
and who is named as having prepared or certified a part of this Listing Statement or as having prepared or certified
a report or valuation described or included in this Listing Statement holds any beneficial interest, direct or indirect,
in any securities or property of the Company or of an Associate (as defined in the policies of the CSE) or Affiliate (as
defined in the policies of the CSE) of the Company and no such person is expected to be elected, appointed or
employed as a director, senior officer or employee of the Company or of an Associate or Affiliate of the Company
and no such person is a promoter of the Company or an Associate or Affiliate of the Company. D&Co is independent
of the Company in accordance with the rules of professional conduct of the Chartered Professional Accountants of
British Columbia.
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24.

Other Material Facts

Other than as set out elsewhere in this Listing Statement, there are no other material facts about the Company and
its securities which are necessary in order for this Listing Statement to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all
material facts relating to the Company and its securities.
25.

Financial Statements

Schedule "A" contains the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended December
31, 2018 and the MD&A of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2018.
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CERTIFICATE OF THE COMPANY
The foregoing contains full, true and plain disclosure of all material information relating to Pacific Rim Cobalt Corp.
It contains no untrue statement of a material fact and does not omit to state a material fact that is required to be
stated or that is necessary to prevent a statement that is made from being false or misleading in light of the
circumstances in which it was made.
Dated at Vancouver, British Columbia this 25th day of June, 2019

/s/ “Ranjeet Sundher”

/s/ “Steve Vanry”

Ranjeet Sundher, President and Chief Executive
Officer

Steve Vanry, Chief Financial Officer

/s/ “Aaron Wong”

/s/ “Sean Bromley”

Aaron Wong, Promoter

Sean Bromley, Director

/s/ “J. Garry Clark”
J. Garry Clark, Director
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SCHEDULE "A"
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MD&A OF THE COMPANY
The audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2018,
&
The MD&A of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2018.

[See Attached]

PACIFIC RIM COBALT CORP.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of
Pacific Rim Cobalt Corp.
Opinion
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Pacific Rim Cobalt Corp. (the “Company”), which
comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the consolidated statements
of loss and comprehensive loss, cash flows, and changes in equity for the year ended December 31, 2018 and the period from
incorporation on June 6, 2017 to December 31, 2017, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year ended December
31, 2018 and the period from incorporation on June 6, 2017 to December 31, 2017 in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section
of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.
Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information obtained at the date of this auditor's report includes
Management’s Discussion and Analysis.
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with
IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•

•
•
•

•
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal
control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.
Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue
as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.
Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Company to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Guy Thomas.

“DAVIDSON & COMPANY LLP”
Vancouver, Canada
June 24, 2019

Chartered Professional Accountants

PACIFIC RIM COBALT CORP.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
AS AT
December 31,
2018

December 31,
2017

ASSETS
Current
Cash
Receivables
Prepaid expenses
Advances (Note 8)
Share subscriptions receivable (Note 10)

$

Deferred acquisition costs (Note 6)
Equipment (Note 7)
Exploration and evaluation assets (Note 8)

1,481,206
33,270
85,284
-

$

4,887,198
33,069
241,113
197,246
850,000

1,599,760

6,208,626

66,606
768,380

64,369
26,432

$

2,434,746

$

6,299,427

$

728,666

$

170,697

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Notes 9 and 13)
Equity
Share capital (Note 10)
Share proceeds received in advance (Note 10)
Reserves (Note 10)
Deficit
Equity attributable to the Company’s shareholders
Non-controlling interest (Notes 5 and 12)

$
NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN (Note 1)
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Note 19)
Approved and authorized on behalf of the Board:
“Ranjeet Sundher”
Director

“Steve Vanry”
Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

10,355,641
1,159,858
(9,833,124)
1,682,375
23,705

9,314,313
35,000
695,601
(3,916,184)
6,128,730
-

1,706,080

6,128,730

2,434,746

$

6,299,427

PACIFIC RIM COBALT CORP.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

For the year
ended
December 31,
2018
EXPENSES
Consulting fees (Note 13)
Corporate development (Note 13)
Exploration expenditures (Note 8)
Foreign exchange
Interest and bank charges
Investor relations
Office and miscellaneous
Management fees (Note 13)
Marketing
Professional fees (Note 13)
Property investigation costs (Notes 11 and 13)
Rent
Share-based payments (Notes 10 and 13)
Shareholder liaison and filing fees
Transfer agent
Travel

$

Cost of public share listing (Note 4)
Loss on settlement of accounts payable (Note 10)

932,484
229,000
500,329
24,068
4,498
30,605
152,467
335,225
2,266,769
266,667
348,107
9,000
553,807
53,729
17,609
110,870
(5,835,234)

For the period
from
incorporation on
June 6 to
December 31,
2017
$

(12,000)
(12,000)

334,334
133,500
8,044
1,220
23,534
58,945
162,450
124,901
244,793
2,625
398,593
34,976
10,969
60,475
(1,599,359)
(2,316,825)
(2,316,825)

Loss and comprehensive loss for the period

$

(5,847,234)

$

(3,916,184)

Loss and comprehensive loss attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interest (Notes 5 and 12)

$

(5,836,279)
(10,955)

$

(3,916,184)
-

$

(5,847,234)

$

(3,916,184)

$

(0.11)

$

(0.18)

Basic and diluted loss per common share
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

51,414,151

21,925,914

PACIFIC RIM COBALT CORP.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

For the year
ended
December 31,
2018
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss for the period

$

(5,847,234)

For the period
from
incorporation on
June 6 to
December 31,
2017
$

(3,916,184)

Items not affecting cash:
Depreciation
Share-based payments
Cost of public share listing
Loss on settlement of accounts payable

11,427
553,807
12,000

398,593
2,316,825
-

Changes in non-cash working capital items:
Receivables
Prepaid expenses
Advances
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

1,666
155,829
197,246
121,183

(18,697)
(237,134)
(197,246)
(191,459)

(4,794,076)

(1,845,302)

(78,033)
(86,165)
-

2,500
146,014
(154,000)

(164,198)

(5,486)

709,577
(7,295)
850,000

7,206,985
(503,999)
35,000

1,552,282

6,737,986

(3,405,992)

4,887,198

4,887,198

-

Net cash used in operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of equipment
Advance non-controlling interest payment
Option payments received on exploration and evaluation assets
Cash acquired in reverse takeover
Fees paid in reverse takeover
Net cash used in investing activity
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of common shares
Share issue costs
Share subscriptions received
Net cash provided by financing activities
Change in cash for the period
Cash, beginning of period
Cash, end of period
Supplemental disclosure with respect to cash flows (Note 14)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

$

1,481,206

$

4,887,198

PACIFIC RIM COBALT CORP.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
Share capital

Number
Balance at June 6, 2017
Equity issued per reverse takeover of 1121844
Common shares of Rhys as at October 23, 2017
Elimination of pre-acquisition Rhys share capital
and reserves
RTO replacement options
RTO replacement warrants
Shares issued for cash
Share issuance costs
Units issued as share issue cost
Shares issued for option exercise
Shares issued for warrant exercise
Share-based payments
Loss for the period
Balance at December 31, 2017
Shares issued for cash
Share issuance costs
Shares issued for settlement of accounts payable
Shares issued for option exercise
Shares issued for warrant exercise
Share-based payments
Non-controlling interest acquired
Allocation of expired warrants
Advance non-controlling interest payment (Note 8)
Loss for the year
Balance at December 31, 2018

Share
proceeds
received in
advance

Amount
-

$

-

16,500,000
8,222,088

1,918,485
4,285,594

23,972,808
570,750
84,375
253,125
-

(4,285,594)
8,074,483
(917,206)
133,175
16,646
88,730
-

49,603,146
338,332
400,000
187,500
1,423,713
51,952,691

$

9,314,313

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

-

$

-

$

35,000

-

-

$

$

$

-

$

Total
-

$

-

-

-

1,918,485
5,399,143

(3,916,184)

-

(5,399,143)
9,011
78,630
8,074,483
(681,213)
133,175
11,250
102,500
398,593
(3,916,184)

695,601

$ (3,916,184) $

-

(25,049)
(58,997)
553,807
(5,504)
-

5,504
(86,165)
(5,836,279)

34,660
(10,955)

$ (9,833,124) $

23,705

(1,113,549)
9,011
78,630
235,993
(5,396)
(21,230)
398,593
-

(35,000)
$

Deficit

1,113,549

35,000
-

253,749
(7,295)
220,000
82,555
492,319
$ 10,355,641

Reserves

Noncontrolling
interest

1,159,858

$

6,128,730
253,749
(7,295)
220,000
57,506
398,322
553,807
34,660
(86,165)
(5,847,234)

$

1,706,080

PACIFIC RIM COBALT CORP.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

1.

NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN

Pacific Rim Cobalt Corp. (“the Company”) completed a reverse takeover (“RTO”) on October 23, 2017 of Rhys Resources
Ltd. (“Rhys”) by 1121844 BC Ltd. (“1121844”), a company incorporated on June 6, 2017. Pursuant to RTO accounting, these
financial statements are those of 1121844 and include Rhys balances and transactions since October 23, 2017. Rhys
subsequently changed its name to Pacific Rim Cobalt Corp. The Company trades on the Canadian Securities Exchange ("CSE")
under the symbol BOLT, the OTCQB under the symbol PCRCF and the Frankfurt Exchange under the symbol NXFE. The
Company’s head office is located at Suite 300 - Bellevue Centre, 235 - 15th Street, West Vancouver, BC, V7T 2X1 and its
registered records office is located at Pacific Centre, 400 - 725 Granville Street, Vancouver, BC, V7Y 1G5. Prior to the RTO,
the Company consolidated its share capital on a 4:1 basis and thereafter split its share capital on a 1:1.5 basis. All share and
per share amounts have been restated for the periods presented.
The Company’s principal business activities include the acquisition and exploration of mineral exploration and evaluation
assets in Canada and Indonesia. The Company has not yet determined whether its exploration and evaluation assets contain ore
reserves that are economically recoverable. The recoverability of the amounts shown for exploration and evaluation assets are
dependent upon the existence of economically recoverable reserves, the ability of the Company to obtain necessary financing
to complete the development of those reserves and upon future profitable production. To date, the Company has not earned any
revenues and is considered to be in the exploration stage.
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will continue on a going-concern basis.
The Company has incurred losses since its inception and the ability of the Company to continue as a going-concern depends
upon its ability to raise adequate financing and to develop profitable operations. These consolidated financial statements do not
include adjustments to amounts and classifications of assets and liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be
unable to continue operations.
The Company’s continuation as a going concern is dependent upon the successful results from its business activities, its ability
to obtain profitable operations and generate funds, and/or complete financings sufficient to meet current and future obligations.
Management estimates it has sufficient funds to operate for the upcoming twelve months.
2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

Statement of compliance
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the International Financial
Reporting Interpretations Committee.
Approval of the financial statements
These consolidated financial statements were authorized by the Board of Directors of the Company on June 20, 2019.
Basis of presentation
These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, using the accrual basis of accounting, except for cash
flow information and certain financial assets that are measured at fair value as explained in the significant accounting policies
set out in Note 3.
Functional and presentation currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted, which is the functional
currency of the Company and its subsidiaries.

PACIFIC RIM COBALT CORP.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (cont’d…)

Significant estimates
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The Company’s management reviews these estimates and underlying assumptions on an ongoing basis,
based on experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Revisions to estimates are adjusted for prospectively in the period in which the estimates are revised.
Critical accounting estimates are estimates and assumptions made by management that may result in a material adjustment to
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year and are, but are not limited to, the following:
Economic recoverability and probability of future economic benefits of exploration and evaluation assets
Management has determined that exploration, evaluation, and related costs incurred which were capitalized may have future
economic benefits and may be economically recoverable. Management uses several criteria in its assessments of economic
recoverability and probability of future economic benefits including, geologic and other technical information, a history of
conversion of mineral deposits with similar characteristics to its own properties to proven and probable mineral reserves, the
quality and capacity of existing infrastructure facilities, evaluation of permitting and environmental issues and local support
for the project.
Valuation of share-based payments
The Company uses the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model for valuation of share-based payments. Option pricing models
require the input of subjective assumptions including expected price volatility, interest rate, and forfeiture rate. Changes in the
input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate and the Company’s earnings and equity reserves.
Accounting for acquisitions
The fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed requires that management make estimates based on the information
provided by the acquiree. The determination of fair value as of the acquisition date requires management to make certain
estimates about future events, including, but not restricted to, mineral reserves and resources acquired, exploration potential,
future operating costs and capital expenditures, future metal prices, long-term foreign exchange rates and discount rates.
Significant judgments
Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognized in these consolidated financial statements are, but are not limited to, the following:
Deferred acquisition costs
The Company has entered into an agreement to acquire a company holding a mineral project. The acquisitions are being
accounted for as advances toward the purchase of a company interest in accordance with IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial
Statements and capitalized to the statement of financial position. Upon gaining control, the Company will consolidate the
entity.
Determination of functional currency
The functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries is the currency of the primary economic environment in which
each entity operates. The Company has determined the functional currency of each entity to be the Canadian dollar.
Determination of the functional currency may involve certain judgments to determine the primary economic environment. The
functional currency may change if there is a change in events and conditions which determines the primary economic
environment.
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2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (cont’d…)

Significant judgments (cont’d…)
Acquisition of company that does not meet the definition of a business
Determination of whether a set of assets acquired and liabilities assumed constitute a business may require the Company to
make certain judgments, taking into account all facts and circumstances. A business is presumed to be an integrated set of
activities and assets capable of being conducted and managed for the purpose of providing a return in the form of dividends,
lower costs or economic benefits. The transactions with 1121844 BC Ltd. and PT. Tablasufa Nickel Mining were each
determined to constitute an acquisition of net assets (Notes 4 and 5), as it did not meet the definition of a business.
3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of consolidation
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its direct wholly-owned subsidiaries. Control
exists when the Company possesses power over an investee, has exposure to variable returns from the investee and has the
ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. Intercompany balances and transactions, and any unrealized
income and expenses arising from intercompany transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
For partially owned subsidiaries, non-controlling interest represents the portion of a subsidiary’s earnings and losses and net
assets that is not held by the Company. Adjustments to non-controlling interest are accounted for as transactions with owners
and adjustments that do not involve the loss of control are based on a proportionate amount of the net assets of the subsidiary.

Name of Subsidiary

Country of
Incorporation

Percentage of
Ownership

Principal Activity

1121844 BC Ltd.
Cobalt Power (Asia) Limited (“CPA HK”)
Pacific Rim Mining Limited
Pacific Rim Processing Limited
Minerals Harvest Limited
PT. Tablasufa Nickel Mining (“TNM”)
PT. Pacific Rim Mineral Indonesia

Canada
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Indonesia
Indonesia

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
65%
100%

Holding company
Holding company
Inactive
Holding company
Holding company
Exploration in Indonesia
Exploration in Indonesia

Financial instruments
Financial assets
On initial recognition, financial assets are recognized at fair value and are subsequently classified and measured at: amortized
cost; fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”); or fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL). The
classification of financial assets depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired and is generally based on
the business model in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow characteristics. Financial assets are
measured at fair value net of transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition except for financial assets at FVTPL
where transaction costs are expensed. All financial assets not classified and measured at amortized cost or FVOCI are measured
at FVTPL. On initial recognition of an equity instrument that is not held for trading, the Company may irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in other comprehensive income. The classification determines the
method by which the financial assets are carried on the consolidated statement of financial position subsequent to inception
and how changes in value are recorded. Financial assets are classified as current assets or non-current assets based on their
maturity date.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d…)

Financial instruments (cont’d…)
Financial assets (cont’d…)
The Company’s financial assets which consist of cash and receivables are classified as amortized cost.
Impairment of financial assets
An expected credit loss (“ECL”) model applies to financial assets measured at amortized cost, contract assets and debt
investments at FVOCI, but not to investments in equity instruments. The ECL model requires a loss allowance to be recognized
based on expected credit losses. The estimated present value of future cash flows associated with the asset is determined and
an impairment loss is recognized for the difference between this amount and the carrying amount as follows: the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced to estimated present value of the future cash flows associated with the asset, discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate, either directly or through the use of an allowance account and the resulting loss
is recognized in profit or loss for the period. In a subsequent period, if the amount of the impairment loss related to financial
assets measured at amortized cost decreases, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the
extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortized
cost would have been had the impairment not been recognized. The Company’s financial assets measured at amortized cost
are subject to the ECL model.
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are designated as either: fair value through profit or loss; or amortized cost. All financial liabilities are
classified and subsequently measured at amortized cost except for financial liabilities at FVTPL. The classification determines
the method by which the financial liabilities are carried on the consolidated statement of financial position subsequent to
inception and how changes in value are recorded.
The Company’s financial liabilities which consist of accounts payable and accrued liabilities are classified as amortized cost.
Deferred acquisition costs
Costs relating to the acquisition of potential exploration and evaluation assets are recorded as deferred acquisition costs in
advance of obtaining the asset. Once the asset has been acquired, the costs will be recorded as capitalized costs. The costs are
written-off should the potential acquisition no longer be considered viable.
Equipment
Equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. Depreciation is provided for using the
straight-line method as follows:
Equipment

4 years

Exploration and evaluation assets
The Company is in the process of exploring its exploration and evaluation assets and has not yet determined whether these
properties contain ore reserves that are economically recoverable.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d…)

Exploration and evaluation assets (cont’d…)
Exploration costs are recognized in profit or loss. Costs incurred before the Company has obtained the legal rights to explore
an area of interest are recognized in profit or loss. All costs related to the acquisition of exploration and evaluation assets are
capitalized on an individual prospect basis. Amounts received for the sale of exploration and evaluation assets, for option
payments and for exploration advances are treated as reductions of the cost of the property, with payments in excess of
capitalized costs recognized in profit or loss. Costs for a producing property will be amortized on a unit-of-production method
based on the estimated life of the ore reserves. The recoverability of the amounts capitalized for the undeveloped exploration
and evaluation assets is dependent upon the determination of economically recoverable ore reserves, confirmation of the
Company's interest in the underlying mineral claims, the ability to obtain the necessary financing to complete their
development, and future profitable production or proceeds from the disposition thereof.
From time to time, the Company may acquire or dispose of properties pursuant to the terms of option agreements. Due to the
fact that property options are exercisable entirely at the discretion of the optionee, the amounts payable or receivable are not
recorded. Option payments are recorded as exploration and evaluation asset costs or recoveries when the payments are made
or received. When the option payments received exceed the carrying value of the related exploration and evaluation asset then
the excess is recognized in profit or loss in the period the option receipt is recognized. Option receipts in the form of marketable
securities are recorded at the quoted market price on the day the securities are received.
Rehabilitation provisions
The Company recognizes liabilities for statutory, contractual, constructive or legal obligations, including those associated with
the rehabilitation of exploration and evaluation assets, when those obligations result from the acquisition, construction,
development or normal operation of the assets. Initially, a liability for rehabilitation obligation is recognized at its fair value in
the period in which it is incurred if a reasonable estimate of cost can be made. The Company records the present value of
estimated future cash flows associated with rehabilitation as a liability when the liability is incurred and increases the carrying
value of the related assets for that amount. Subsequently, these capitalized rehabilitation costs are amortized over the life of the
related assets. At the end of each period, the liability is increased to reflect the passage of time (accretion expense) and changes
in the estimated future cash flows underlying any initial estimates (additional rehabilitation costs).
The Company recognizes its environmental liability on a site-by-site basis when it can be reliably estimated. Environmental
expenditures related to existing conditions resulting from past or current operations and from which no current or future benefit
is discernible are charged to profit or loss. The Company had no measurable rehabilitation obligations as at December 31, 2018.
Impairment
At the end of each reporting period, the carrying amounts of the Company’s long-lived assets are reviewed to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets are impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment, if any. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair
value less costs to sell and value in use. Fair value is determined as the amount that would be obtained from the sale of the
asset in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset.
If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced
to its recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss. For an asset that does not generate largely
independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash generating unit (“CGU”) to which the asset
belongs.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d…)

Impairment (cont’d…)
Where an impairment subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU is increased to the revised estimate and
its recoverable amount, but to an amount that does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognized for the asset or CGU in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized
immediately in profit or loss.
Share capital
Common shares are classified as shareholders’ equity. Transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of common shares
and share options are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. Costs related to issuances not completed
will be recorded as deferred financing costs if the completion of the transaction is considered likely; otherwise they are expensed
as incurred. Common shares issued for consideration other than cash are valued based on their market value at the date the
shares are issued.
The Company has adopted a residual value method with respect to the measurement of shares and warrants issued as private
placement units. The residual value method first allocates value to the more easily measurable component based on fair value
and then the residual value, if any, to the less easily measurable component. The Company considers the fair value of common
shares issued in the private placements to be the more easily measurable component. The balance, if any, is allocated to the
attached warrants. Any fair value attributed to the warrants is recorded as reserves.
Warrants that are issued as payment for agency fee or other transactions costs are accounted for as share-based payments.
Share-based payments
The Company accounts for all grants of options to employees, non-employees and directors in accordance with the fair value
method for accounting for share-based payments. Share-based payment awards are calculated using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model.
Compensation expense is recognized immediately for past services and pro-rata for future services over the option vesting
period. A corresponding increase in reserves is recorded when stock options are expensed. When stock options are exercised,
share capital is credited by the sum of the consideration paid and the related portion of share-based payment previously recorded
in reserves.
Share-based payment to non-employees, who are not providing similar services to employees, are measured at the grant date
by using the fair value of the goods or services received or the fair value of the equity instruments issued, if it is determined
the fair value of the goods or services received cannot be reliably measured, and are recorded at the date the goods or services
are received.
Income (loss) per share
Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net earnings (loss) available to common shareholders by the weighted
average number of shares outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted earnings (loss) per share is computed similarly to
basic earnings (loss) per share except that the weighted average shares outstanding are increased to include additional shares
for the assumed exercise of stock options and warrants, if dilutive. The number of additional shares is calculated by assuming
that outstanding stock options and warrants were exercised and that the proceeds from such exercises were used to acquire
common stock at the average market price during the reporting periods. For the period presented, this calculation proved to be
anti-dilutive.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d…)

Income taxes
Current income tax
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or
paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively
enacted, at the reporting date, in the country where the Company operates and generates taxable income.
Current income tax relating to items recognized directly in other comprehensive income or equity is recognized in other
comprehensive income or equity and not in profit or loss. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where
appropriate.
Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax is based on temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and recognized only to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilized.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is
realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.
Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current
tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same
taxation authority.
Foreign currency translation
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate in effect at the date of the transaction. Foreign
denominated monetary assets and liabilities are translated to their Canadian dollar equivalents using foreign exchange rates
prevailing at the statement of financial position date. Non-monetary items are translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange
rate in effect on the respective transaction dates. Revenues and expenses are translated at average rates for the period, except
for amortization, which is translated on the same basis as the related asset. Exchange gains or losses arising on foreign currency
translation are reflected in profit or loss for the period.
Related party transactions
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise
significant influence over the party in making financial and operating decisions. Related parties may be individuals or corporate
entities. A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between
related parties.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d…)

New accounting policies adopted
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments
Effective January 1, 2018, the Company retrospectively adopted IFRS 9. This standard replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement. Prior periods were not restated and there was no material impact to the Company’s consolidated
financial statements as a result of transitioning to IFRS 9. IFRS 9 introduced a revised model for classification and
measurement, and while this has resulted in financial instrument classification changes, there were no quantitative impacts
from adoption. Cash has changed classification from FVTPL to amortized cost. The carrying value is equal to its fair value
given the short-term nature of the asset, therefore, there is no change in the carrying value as a result of the change in
classification. There are no transitional impacts regarding financial liabilities in regards to classification and measurement.
The adoption of the ECL impairment model had a negligible impact on the carrying amounts of the Company’s financial assets
given the nature of the items and that receivables are substantially all current and there is a minimal level of default.
IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 establishes principles that an entity shall apply to report useful information to users of financial statements about the
nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from a contract with a customer. There was no impact
on the consolidated financial statements as a result of adopting this standard.
New standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards not yet effective
The following standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been issued and are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2019:
IFRS 16, Leases
IFRS 16, Leases, will replace IAS 17, Leases. The new standard requires lessees to recognize a lease liability reflecting future
lease payments and a “right-of-use asset” for virtually all lease contracts, and to record it on the statement of financial position,
except with respect to lease contracts that meet limited exception criteria.
The Company has determined the impact of this new standard will be increased disclosure.
4.

REVERSE TAKEOVER TRANSACTION

On August 31, 2017, Rhys entered into a share exchange agreement for the acquisition of 1121844 a privately held BC
corporation, which provides the indirect right to acquire 100% ownership of a mining permit for the TNM Cobalt Project,
located in Depapre District, Jayapura Regency, Papua Province, Republic of Indonesia, subject to a 2% net smelter returns
royalty (“NSR”) (the “Transaction”). Under the provisions of the Transaction, Rhys would acquire all of the issued and
outstanding securities of 1121844 and 1121844 would become a wholly owned subsidiary of the Rhys. 1121844 is the sole
shareholder of CPA HK, a Hong Kong company, which has entered into a conditional sale and purchase of shares agreement
with TNM to acquire all of the issued and outstanding securities of TNM (Notes 5 and 8). TNM is a private Indonesia company
holding an Izin Usaha Pertambangan Operation Production Mining Permit for the TNM Cobalt Project (“Cyclops Property”).
On October 23, 2017, Rhys issued 16,500,000 common shares (“Payment Shares”) for the acquisition of all of the issued and
outstanding shares of 1121844. The shareholders of 1121844 obtained control of Rhys and, as such, the transaction is
considered a purchase of Rhys by 1121844 and is accounted for as a RTO. In accordance with IFRS 3, Business Combinations,
Rhys does not constitute a business for accounting purposes. 1121844 is deemed to be the acquiring company and its assets,
liabilities, equity and historical operating results are included at their historical carrying values. The net assets of Rhys will be
recorded at fair value as at the Transaction date with any excess recorded as a cost of public listing expense. All of Rhys’ deficit
and other equity balances prior to the Transaction are eliminated.
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4.

REVERSE TAKEOVER TRANSACTION (cont’d…)

For accounting purposes, the acquisition was treated as an asset acquisition. As such, effective as at the date of closing, the
fair value assigned to the identified assets acquired and liabilities assumed are presented below:
Purchase price:
Fair value of common shares (8,222,088 common shares at $0.233 per share)
Cash for finder’s fee
Fair value of replacement options and warrants

Allocation of purchase price:
Cash
Receivables
Prepaid expenses
Deferred financing costs
Deposits
Exploration and evaluation assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Share subscriptions received in advance
Charge related to public company listing

5.

$

1,918,485
154,000
87,641

$

2,160,126

$

146,014
14,372
3,979
2,472
64,369
28,932
(320,587)
(96,250)
2,316,825

$

2,160,126

ACQUISITION OF PT. TABLASUFA NICKEL MINING

On July 16, 2018, the Company acquired 65% of the issued and outstanding shares of TNM. As consideration, the Company
paid $64,369. TNM did not meet the definition of a business for accounting purposes in accordance with IFRS 3, Business
Combinations. For accounting purposes, the acquisition was treated as an asset acquisition. As such, effective as at the date
of closing, the fair value assigned to the identified assets acquired and liabilities assumed are presented below:
Purchase price:
Cash paid (Note 6)

Allocation of purchase price:
Receivables
Exploration and evaluation assets (Note 8)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

$

64,369

$

64,369

$

1,867
741,948
(644,786)
99,029
(34,660)

$

64,369

Non-controlling interest (Note 12)

PACIFIC RIM COBALT CORP.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

6.

DEFERRED ACQUISITION COSTS
TNM

Balance June 6, 2017
Additions

$

Balance, December 31, 2017
Acquisition of TNM
Balance, December 31, 2018

Total

64,369

$

64,369
(64,369)
$

64,369
64,369
(64,369)

-

$

-

On July 16, 2018, $64,369 of deferred acquisition costs were allocated to the acquisition of TNM (Note 5).
7.

EQUIPMENT
Equipment

Total

Cost
June 6 and December 31, 2017
Additions

$

78,033

$

78,033

December 31, 2018

$

78,033

$

78,033

Accumulated depreciation
June 6 and December 31, 2017
Depreciation

$

11,427

$

11,427

December 31, 2018

$

11,427

$

11,427

Net Book Value
December 31, 2017

$

-

$

-

December 31, 2018

$

66,606

$

66,606

Depreciation is included in property exploration costs.
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8.

EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS
Cyclops
Property

Property

Dina Pool
Property
$

21,314
(1,250)

Doe Creek
Property
$

7,618
(1,250)

Total

Balance, June 6, 2017
Additions
Option agreement

$

-

$

28,932
(2,500)

Balance, December 31, 2017
Additions (Note 5)

$

741,948

$

20,064
-

$

6,368
-

$

26,432
741,948

Balance, December 31, 2018

$

741,948

$

20,064

$

6,368

$

768,380

Cyclops Property
CPA HK is party to an option agreement with TNM to acquire all of the issued and outstanding securities of TNM, which holds
a mining permit for the Cyclops property located in the Republic of Indonesia (Note 4). On July 16, 2018, the Company
acquired 65% of TNM (Note 5).
The Company entered into a conditional agreement, signed subsequent to year end, with the vendor for the acquisition of the
remaining 35% of TNM. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company is required pay US$1,220,000 as follows:
i. US$120,000 on or before June 15, 2020;
ii. US$120,000 on or before June 15, 2021; and
iii. US$980,000 on or before June 15, 2022.
The Company has the right to defer the final payment date for a period of one year by delivering written notice and paying an additional
USD$50,000 on or before June 15, 2022.
Payments made prior to signing the agreement and toward the acquisition of the 35% interest will be recorded to deficit as an
advance non-controlling interest payment (2018 - $86,165; 2017 - $nil).
Upon obtaining control, the Company will grant a 2% NSR on future production.
As at December 31, 2018, $nil (2017 - $197,246) had been advanced for property investigation.
Dina Pool Property
On June 23, 2016, Rhys purchased land in the Provost area of Alberta (Dina Pool) through a Province of Alberta land sale.
Doe Creek Property
On September 15, 2016, Rhys purchased land in the Grande Prairie area of Alberta (Doe Creek) through a Province of Alberta
Land sale.
On September 5, 2017, the Company entered into a property option agreement dated September 5, 2017 with Drifter Way
Holding Co. Ltd. (“Drifter”), in which a director has significant influence, to dispose of the Dina Pool property and the Doe
Creek property by granting to Drifter the sole and exclusive option to acquire a 100% interest in such properties by making
aggregate cash payments of $30,000 over an eight year period as follows:
i. $2,500 within five business days of TSX Venture Exchange approval (received);
ii. An additional $2,500 every year for seven years on or before October 23rd of each year, beginning on October 23, 2018
(Note 19); and
iii. An additional $10,000 on or before October 23, 2025.
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EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (cont’d…)

Exploration and evaluation expenditures for July 17 (date of control over TNM) to December 31, 2018 are as follows:

Property
Community development
Drilling, sampling, analysis
Equipment
Permitting
Professional
Supplies and miscellaneous
Travel
Wages and benefits
Balance, December 31, 2018

Cyclops
Property

Dina Pool and
Doe Creek
Properties

Total

$

30,688
75,162
62,237
10,292
28,272
63,153
26,686
202,943

$

896
-

$

30,688
75,162
62,237
11,188
28,272
63,153
26,686
202,943

$

499,433

$

896

$

500,329

Exploration and evaluation expenditures for the period from incorporation on June 6, 2017 to December 31, 2017 were $nil.
9.

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES
December 31,
2018

Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities

10.

SHARE CAPITAL

Authorized share capital
Unlimited number of common shares without par value.

December 31,
2017

$

692,166
36,500

$

140,697
30,000

$

728,666

$

170,697
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10.

SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d…)

Issued share capital
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company:
i. collected share subscriptions receivable of $850,000 in relation to a prior period private placement;
ii. issued 338,332 units at a price of $0.75 per unit by way of a private placement for total proceeds of $253,749. Each
unit was comprised of one common share and one share purchase warrant, which will entitle the holder of each whole
warrant to acquire an additional common share of the Company at a price of $1.00 per common share, for a period of
24 months from the date of issue. There was no value attributed to the warrants. The Company paid a total of $7,295
in cash for finder’s and legal fees;
iii. issued 400,000 common shares, valued at $220,000, to settle accounts payable of $208,000, which resulted in a loss on
settlement of accounts payable of $12,000;
iv. issued 187,500 common shares, for proceeds of $57,506, pursuant to the exercise of stock options; and
v. issued 1,423,713 common shares, for proceeds of $433,322, $35,000 of which was received in fiscal 2017, pursuant to
the exercise of warrants.
During the period ended December 31, 2017, the Company issued:
i.

19,171,206 units at a price of $0.233 per unit by way of a private placement for total proceeds of $4,473,283. Each unit
was comprised of one common share and one-half of one share purchase warrant, which will entitle the holder of each
whole warrant to acquire an additional common share of the Company at a price of $0.333 per common share, for a
period of 24 months from the date of issue. The Company paid a total of $300,151 in cash, issued 570,750 units, and
issued 551,432 warrants for finders’ and legal fees. The agents’ units have the same terms as the units issued in the
private placement; the shares were valued at $133,175 and the warrants were valued at $37,017. The agents’ warrants
have the same terms as the warrants issued in the private placement; the warrants were valued at $71,529;
ii. 4,801,602 units at a price of $0.75 per unit by way of a private placement for total proceeds of $3,601,202. Each unit
was comprised of one common share and one share purchase warrant, which will entitle the holder of each whole
warrant to acquire an additional common share of the Company at a price of $1.00 per common share, for a period of
24 months from the date of issue. The Company paid a total of $247,884 in cash, issued 164,600 warrants, and issued
133,333 unit warrants for finders’ and legal fees. The agents’ warrants have the same terms as the warrants issued in
the private placement the warrants were valued at $70,411. The agents’ unit warrants have the same terms as the units
issued in the private placement the warrants were valued at $57,036. As at December 31, 2017, there are share
subscriptions receivable of $850,000 in relation to this private placement; the funds were collected subsequent to period
end;
iii. 84,375 common shares, for proceeds of $11,250, pursuant to the exercise of stock options; and
iv. 253,125 common shares, for proceeds of $67,500, pursuant to the exercise of warrants.
Escrow shares
Pursuant to the Transaction, all of the Payment Shares are subject to escrow restrictions pursuant to the terms of an Escrow
Agreement dated October 23, 2017, and will be released from escrow based upon the passage of time in accordance with the
Escrow Agreement, such that 10% of the securities will be released on October 24, 2017 and the remaining escrowed securities
will be released in six tranches of 15% every six months thereafter. As at December 31, 2018, there are 9,900,000 (December
31, 2017 - 14,850,000) shares held in escrow.
Stock options
The Company has a stock option plan that provides for the issuance of options to directors, officers, employees and consultants
of the Company to purchase common shares. The maximum aggregate number of plan shares that may be reserved for issuance
under the plan at any point in time is 10% of the outstanding shares at the time. Vesting is determined at the discretion of the
Board of Directors.
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10.

SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d…)

Stock options (cont’d…)
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company granted 800,000 (2017 - 3,465,625, which includes 140,625 RTO
replacement options) incentive stock options to consultants. The options have various vesting provisions. During the year
ended December 31, 2018, the Company expensed $553,807 (2017 - $398,593), which was recorded in share-based payments.
The weighted average fair value of stock options granted during the for the year ended December 31, 2018 was $0.45 (2017 $0.18) per option.
The fair value of stock options granted was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with weighted average
assumptions as follows:

Risk-free interest rate
Expected option life in years
Expected stock price volatility
Expected forfeiture rate

For the year
ended
December 31,
2018

For the period
from
incorporation on
June 6, 2017 to
December 31,
2017

1.95%
3.1
139%
-

1.47%
2.0
124%
-

Number of
options

Weighted
average exercise
price

Stock option activities are summarized as follows:

Outstanding at June 6, 2017
RTO replacement options
Granted
Exercised

140,625
3,325,000
(84,375)

$

0.13
0.37
0.13

Outstanding at December 31, 2017
Granted
Exercised

3,381,250
800,000
(187,500)

$

0.37
0.60
0.31

Outstanding at December 31, 2018

3,993,750

$

0.42

Exercisable at December 31, 2018

3,843,750

$

0.42
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10.

SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d…)

Stock options (cont’d…)
The Company has outstanding options entitling the holder to purchase an aggregate of common shares at December 31, 2018
as follows:

Number of options
2,662,500
275,000
200,000
500,000
56,250
300,000

Exercise price
$

0.307
0.78
0.76
0.69
0.133
0.45

Expiry date

Contractual life
remaining (years)

October 24, 2019
November 7, 2019
November 14, 2019
March 9, 2020
May 12, 2021
June 12, 2023

0.81
0.85
0.87
1.19
2.36
4.45

3,993,750
Warrants
The fair value of agents’ warrants and agent’s unit warrants issued was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model
with weighted average assumptions as follows:

For the year
ended
December 31,
2018
Risk-free interest rate
Expected option life in years
Expected stock price volatility
Expected forfeiture rate

-

For the period
from
incorporation on
June 6, 2017 to
December 31,
2017
1.52%
2.0
124%
-
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10.

SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d…)

Warrants (cont’d…)
Warrant activities are summarized as follows:
Weighted
average exercise
price

Number of
warrants
Outstanding at June 6, 2017
RTO replacement warrants
Granted
Exercised

937,500
15,388,612
(384,375)

$

0.27
0.55
0.27

Outstanding at December 31, 2017
Issued
Exercised
Expired

15,941,748
338,332
(1,292,463)
(65,625)

$

0.54
1.00
0.31
0.27

Outstanding at December 31, 2018

14,921,992

$

0.57

As at December 31, 2017, 131,250 warrants had been exercised for proceeds of $35,000, received in fiscal 2017. These
common shares were issued in the year ended December 31, 2018.
The Company has outstanding warrants entitling the holder to purchase an aggregate of common shares at December 31, 2018
as follows:

Number of warrants
9,617,458
4,966,202
338,332

Exercise price
$

0.333
1.00
1.00

Expiry date

Contractual life
remaining (years)

October 23, 2019
December 22, 2019
January 22, 2020

0.81
0.98
1.05

14,921,992
Unit Warrant activities are summarized as follows:
Weighted
average exercise
price

Number of unit
warrants
Outstanding at June 6, 2017
Granted

133,333

$

0.75

Outstanding at December 31, 2017 and
December 31, 2018

133,333

$

0.75
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10.

SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d…)

Warrants (cont’d…)
The Company has outstanding unit warrants entitling the holder to purchase an aggregate of units, consisting of one common
share and one share purchase warrant, which will entitle the holder of each whole warrant to acquire an additional common
share of the Company at a price of $1.00 per common share until December 22, 2019, at December 31, 2018 as follows:

Number of unit warrants
133,333

Exercise price
$

0.75

Expiry date

Contractual life
remaining (years)

December 22, 2019

0.98

133,333
11.

PROPERTY INVESTIGATION COSTS
Cyclops
Property

Property
Community development
Drilling, sampling, analysis
Equipment
Metallurgy
Permitting
Professional
Supplies and miscellaneous
Travel
Wages and benefits
Balance, December 31, 2018

Balance, December 31, 2017

Total

$

6,900
30,063
16,690
1,625
5,543
56,208
39,507
125,635

$

39,465
26,471

$

6,900
30,063
16,690
39,465
1,625
5,543
56,208
39,507
152,106

$

282,171

$

65,936

$

348,107

Cyclops
Property

Property
Geological
Permitting
Professional
Supplies and miscellaneous
Travel

Other

Other

Total

$

21,646
126,187
31,766
21,339
20,437

$

23,418
-

$

45,064
126,187
31,766
21,339
20,437

$

221,375

$

23,418

$

244,793

Costs incurred on the exploration and evaluation of the Cyclops property prior to acquiring control of TNM (Note 5) have been
recorded as property investigation costs and thereafter as exploration and evaluation expense (Note 8).
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12.

NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

As at December 31, 2018, the equity attributable to the 35% non-controlling interest in TNM is as follows:
Total
Non-controlling interest on acquisition of TNM (Note 5)
Share of loss for the period

$

34,660
(10,955)

$

23,705

As at December 31, 2018 and for the period from July 16 to December 31, 2018, summarized financial information about TNM
is as follows:
Total
Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Loss and comprehensive loss for the period
13.

$

1,928
304,313
439,917
236,231
(31,300)

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company defines its directors and officers as its key management personnel. The compensation costs for key management
personnel is as follows:

For the year
ended
December 31,
2018
Consulting fees
Corporate development
Management fees
Professional fees
Property investigation costs
Share-based payments

For the period
from
incorporation on
June 6, 2017 to
December 31,
2017

$

26,795
60,000
185,964
92,000
21,100
143,035

$

3,000
35,000
26,047
25,500
172,304

$

528,894

$

2,691,851

At December 31, 2018 included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities are amounts owing to related parties of $23,768
(December 31, 2017 - $25,035).
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14.

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE WITH RESPECT TO CASH FLOWS

For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company’s significant non-cash transactions consisted of:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.
v.
vi.

shares issued for settlement of accounts payable of $220,000;
allocation of reserves on exercise of options of $25,049;
allocation of reserves on exercise of warrants of $58,997;
reallocation of shares subscriptions received in advance to share capital of $35,000;
allocation of expired warrants from reserves to deficit of $5,504; and
acquisition of TNM (Note 5).

For the period from incorporation on June 6, 2017 to December 31, 2017, the Company’s significant non-cash transactions
consisted of:
i. shares issued for agents’ fees of $133,175;
ii. allocation of reserves on exercise of options of $5,396;
iii. allocation of reserves on exercise of warrants of $21,230;
iv. fair value of warrants issued as agents’ fee of $235,993;
v. share issue costs recorded in accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $41,569;
vi. deferred financing fees reallocated to share issue costs $2,472;
vii. share proceeds received in advance of RTO reallocated to capital stock of $96,250: and
viii. share subscriptions receivable of $850,000.
15.

INCOME TAXES

A reconciliation of income taxes at statutory rates is as follows:
For the period
from
incorporation on
June 6, 2017 to
December 31,
2017

For the year
ended
December 31,
2018
Loss for the period before income tax

$

Expected income tax recovery
Change in statutory, foreign tax, foreign exchanges rates and other
Permanent differences
Impact of RTO transaction
Share issue costs
Change in unrecognized deductible temporary differences
Total income tax (recovery)

(5,835,234)

$

(1,576,000)
75,000
150,000
(2,000)
1,353,000
$

-

(3,916,184)
(1,018,000)
(9,000)
667,000
(631,000)
(146,000)
1,137,000

$

-
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15.

INCOME TAXES (cont’d…)

The significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets that have not been included on the consolidated statement of
financial position are as follows:
2018
Deferred tax assets:
Equipment
Share issue costs
Allowable capital losses
Non-capital losses available for future period

$

Unrecognized deferred tax assets
$

3,000
114,000
77,000
2,296,000
2,490,000
(2,490,000)
-

2017
$

$

122,000
77,000
938,000
1,137,000
(1,137,000)
-

Tax attributes are subject to review and potential adjustment by tax authorities.
The Company has non-capital losses of approximately $8,693,000 available to offset against taxable income in future years,
which if unutilized will expire through 2038, equipment costs of approximately $11,000 available to offset against taxable
income in future years, which have no expiry date, and share issue costs of approximately $422,000 available to offset against
taxable income in future years, which if unutilized will expire through 2022. Deferred tax benefits that may arise as a result of
these losses, resource deductions and other tax assets have not been recognized in these financial statements due to a lack of
probability of their realization.
16.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels in the fair value hierarchy according to the
relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are:
• Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
• Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly; and
• Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data.
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, receivables, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The fair value
of these financial instruments approximates their carrying values because of the short-term nature of these instruments. Cash
is measured at fair value using level 1 inputs.
Financial risk factors
The Company is exposed to a variety of financial risks by virtue of its activities including currency, credit, interest rate, liquidity
and price risk.
Credit risk
The Company is exposed to industry credit risks arising from its cash holdings and receivables. The Company manages credit
risk by placing cash with major Canadian financial institutions. The Company’s receivables consist of goods and service tax
receivable due from the Federal Government of Canada. Management believes that credit risk related to these amounts is
nominal.
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16.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d…)

Financial risk factors (cont’d…)
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient funds to meet its financial obligations when they are due.
To manage liquidity risk, the Company reviews additional sources of capital and financing to continue its operations and
discharge its commitments as they become due. The Company has sufficient cash to settle its current liabilities as they come
due.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market prices. Market risk is comprised of three types of market price changes:
(a)
Interest rate risk - this risk relates to the change in the borrowing rates of the Company. The Company is not exposed
to interest rate risk as it does not have any significant financial instruments with interest rates, with the exception of cash.
Interest earned on cash is based on prevailing bank account interest rates, which may fluctuate. A 1% change in interest rates
would result in a nominal difference in interest income for the year ended December 31, 2018.
(b)
Foreign currency risk - this risk relates to any changes in foreign currencies in which the Company transacts. The
effect of a 10% change in foreign exchange rates would be approximately $67,000 for the year ended December 31, 2018.
(c)
Price risk - this risk is defined as the potential adverse impact on the Company’s earnings due to movements in
individual equity prices or general movements in the level of the stock market. Commodity price risk is defined as the potential
adverse impact on earnings and economic value due to commodity price movements and volatilities. The Company closely
monitors commodity prices in relation to its exploration and evaluation assets. The Company has limited exposure to price
risk with respect to commodity and equity prices.
17.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Company considers its components within shareholders’ equity as capital. The Company’s objective when managing
capital is to fund its operations and corporate overhead costs, meet obligations as they come due, and to maintain a flexible
capital structure, which optimizes the cost of capital at an acceptable risk. The Company has no earnings and therefore it must
finance its activities and corporate overhead costs by the sale of common shares or loans.
The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the
risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may attempt to issue new
shares, issue new debt, or acquire or dispose of assets. In order to maximize ongoing development efforts, the Company does
not pay out dividends.
Given its objectives, the Company determines the amount of capital to be raised and retained based on the scope of operating
activities and potential acquisitions management’s assessment of the expected availability of acceptably priced capital in future
periods.
There were no changes in the Company's approach to capital management for the year ended December 31, 2018. The Company
is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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18.

SEGMENTED INFORMATION

The Company operates in one industry, being resource exploration in Canada and acquisition of companies with property
interests in Indonesia. Geographical information is as follows:
December 31, 2018

Indonesia

Canada

Total

Deferred acquisition costs
Equipment
Exploration and evaluation assets

$

66,606
741,948

$

26,432

$

66,606
768,380

Total

$

808,554

$

26,432

$

834,986

December 31, 2017

Indonesia

Canada

Total

Deferred acquisition costs
Equipment
Exploration and evaluation assets

$

64,369
-

$

26,432

$

64,369
26,432

Total

$

64,369

$

26,432

$

90,801

19.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent to December 31, 2018, the Company:
i.

issued 10,541,667 units, for proceeds of $1,265,000, pursuant to a private placement. Each unit was comprised of one
common share and one share purchase warrant, which will entitle the holder of each whole warrant to acquire an
additional common share of the Company at a price of $0.20 per common share, for a period of 12 months from the
date of issue;
ii. issued 1,200,000 common shares, for settlement of debt of $288,000 on services performed subsequent to year end;
iii. made payments of USD $60,000 towards the the Cyclops property (Note 8); and
iv. received $2,500 for the property option agreement with Drifter (Note 8).
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INTRODUCTION
This management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) reports on the financial position and results of operations
of Pacific Rim Cobalt Corp. (the “Company” or “Pac Rim”) and was prepared and approved by the Board of
Directors as at June 24, 2019 and should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements
and notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2018. The audited consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). This MD&A is intended to assist
the reader’s understanding of the Company and its operations, business, strategies, performance and future outlook
from the perspective of management. All dollar figures included therein and in the following MD&A are quoted in
Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated. Additional information related to the Company, including its press
releases and quarterly and annual reports, is available for view on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
This MD&A may contain management estimates of anticipated future trends, activities, or results; these are not a
guarantee of future performance, since actual results may vary based on factors and variables outside of
management’s control. Management is responsible for the preparation and integrity of the consolidation financial
statements, including the maintenance of appropriate information systems, procedures and internal controls.
Management is also responsible to ensure that information disclosed externally, including the consolidated financial
statements and MD&A, is complete and reliable.
The Company’s Board of Directors follows recommended corporate governance guidelines for public companies
to ensure transparency and accountability to shareholders. The Board’s Audit Committee meets with management
quarterly to review the consolidated financial statement results, including the MD&A, and to discuss other financial,
operating and internal control matters. The Audit Committee receives a report from the independent auditors
annually and is free to meet with them throughout the year.
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Certain statements contained in this MD&A constitute “forward-looking statements”. Such forward-looking
statements involve a number of known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause the
actual results, performance or achievements of the Company to be materially different from any future results,
performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Readers are cautioned not
to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date the statements were
made, and readers are advised to consider such forward-looking statements in light of the risks set forth below and
as detailed under RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES in this MD&A.
Risk factors that could affect the Company’s future results include, but are not limited to, risks inherent in
hydrocarbon exploration and development and production activities in general, volatility and sensitivity to market
prices for oil and gas, changes in government regulation and policies including environmental regulations and
reclamation requirements, receipt of required permits and approvals from governmental authorities, competition
from other companies, ability to attract and retain skilled employees and contractors, and changes in foreign
currency exchange rates. Further information regarding these and other factors which may cause results to differ
materially from those projected in forward-looking statements are included in the Company’s filings with securities
regulatory authorities. The Company does not undertake to update any forward-looking statement that may be made
from time to time by the Company or on its behalf, except in accordance with applicable securities laws.
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DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS
The Company was incorporated under the laws of the Province of British Columbia and is a Canadian-based
exploration company focused on the acquisition and development of production grade nickel-cobalt deposits, a key
raw material input for the growing lithium-ion battery industry.
The Company’s head office is located at Suite 300 - Bellevue Centre, 235 - 15th Street, West Vancouver, BC, V7T
2X1 and its registered records office is located at Pacific Centre, 400 - 725 Granville Street, Vancouver, BC, V7Y
1G5. The Company is listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”) under the symbol BOLT, the OTCQB
under the symbol PCRCF and the Frankfurt Exchange under the symbol NXFE.
OVERALL PERFORMANCE
Acquisition
On August 31, 2017, The Company entered into a share exchange agreement for the acquisition of 1121844 a
privately held BC corporation, which provides the indirect right to acquire 100% ownership of a mining permit for
the TNM Cobalt Project, located in Depapre District, Jayapura Regency, Papua Province, Republic of Indonesia,
subject to a 2% net smelter returns royalty (“NSR”) (the “Transaction”). Under the provisions of the Transaction,
The Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding securities of 1121844 and 1121844 became a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company. 1121844 is the sole shareholder of CPA HK, a Hong Kong company, which has entered
into a Conditional Sale and Purchase of Shares Agreement (“Conditional Purchase”), dated June 15, 2017, with PT.
Tablasufa Nickel Mining (“TNM”) to acquire all of the issued and outstanding securities of TNM. TNM is a private
Indonesia company holding an Izin Usaha Pertambangan Operation Production Mining Permit for the TNM Cobalt
Project (“Cyclops Property”).
On October 23, 2017, the Company issued 16,500,000 common shares (“Payment Shares”) for the acquisition of
all of the issued and outstanding shares of 1121844.
On July 16, 2018 the Company indirectly acquired 65% of the shares of TNM.
On June 17, 2019 the Conditional Purchase was revised such that:
a) The Company will indirectly purchase and acquire the 35% Minority Interest in TNM in exchange for
staged consideration in the aggregate amount of USD$1,220,000; and
b) In order to induce the Company to enter into the Transaction, a creditor has agreed to reduce the amount of
the Debt due and owing from TNM to CAD$140,706 (Rp 1,500,000,000).
Payment terms under the revised Conditional Purchase are:
(a)
USD$120,000 on or before June 15, 2020;
(b)
USD$120,000 on or before June 15, 2021; and
(c)
USD$980,000 on or before June 15, 2022 (“Final Payment”).
Notwithstanding the foregoing, CPA HK shall have the right to defer the Final Payment date for a period of one (1)
year by: (i) delivering written notice to Best of its intention to defer the Final Payment on or before the due date of
the Final Payment, and (ii) payment to Best of an additional USD$50,000 on or before June 15, 2022.
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OVERALL PERFORMANCE (cont’d…)
Financing
In February 2019 the Company issued 10,541,667 units (each a “Unit”) at a price of $0.12 per Unit for gross
proceeds of $1,265,000. Each Unit was comprised of one common share of the Company and one transferable
common share purchase warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share at price of $0.20
per common share until February 12, 2020, subject to accelerated expiry provisions.
In connection with the Offering, the Company paid a total of $25,928 in cash as finders’ fees.
CYCLOPS PROJECT
Background
The Cyclops Project is located directly on the Pacific coast in Depapre District, Jayapura Regency, Papua Province,
Republic of Indonesia. The town of Sentani is located about 15 km to the east and with Jayapura, the capital city of
Papua Province, located about 40 km to the east.
The Cyclops Project is comprised of a Mining Business Permit – Production Operation license covering exactly
five thousand hectares (50km2).
Sealed roads enable year-round access to the project area and connect it with the large towns of Jayapura and
Sentani. Detailed bathymetric studies have identified three locations along the coast which appear to be favourable
for the construction of a deep-water port site within the license area.
The Cyclops Project covers the western segment of a thick ultramafic unit that is exposed along the southern and
western slopes of the Cyclops Mountain Range in an area measuring roughly 40 km east-west and 5 km north-south,
from Tanahmerah Bay in the west to Jayapura’s adjacent Yos Sudarso Bay (Humboldt Bay) in the east.
These ultramafic rocks have been extensively lateritized, resulting in the formation of elevated values of nickel and
cobalt residing in shallow, near surface zones of the profile. A total of nine (9) prospective laterite zones underlain
by ultramafic rocks have been identified and mapped on the property. Of these, only five have been historically,
and to a limited extent, drill tested.
A total of eight hundred and fifty-six (856) holes drilled with manual augers, tripod-supported gas-powered augers
and truck mounted drills, as well as twenty six (26) test pits, have been completed on the five of the nine cobalt
prospects; the Tanahmerah, Tablasufa, Amaybu, Kirpon and Doyo zones. These prospects are in the northern part
of the license.
The Cyclops Project hosts a historical estimate of 37.973 million tonnes grading 1.25% nickel and 0.11% cobalt at
a 0.8% nickel cut-off grade, contained in five coastal deposits fringing Tanahmerah Bay; Tanahmerah, Tablasufa,
Amaybu , Kirpon and Doyo. The Historical Estimate1 was reported by PT. Pacific Nikkel in 1982 (“Pacific Nikkel
report”), based on work carried out by PT. Pacific Nikkel in the period 1969 to 1979, as referenced by Thirnbeck
in 2001.
The Pacific Nikkel report notes that drilling was the principal method of testing the extent, depth and grade of the
laterite profile in the target areas and that such drilling averaged 7 meters in depth. The Pacific Nikkel report also
notes that drilling was reported not to have intersected the full laterite profile, or to have reached bedrock and
frequently bottomed in horizons with elevated cobalt and nickel concentrations.
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CYCLOPS PROJECT (cont’d…)
Background
The following outstanding cobalt intercepts are from within the mineralized zones: (operator, PT. Pacific Nikkel,
1970; true width of intervals are unknown)
•
•
•

8m @ 1.53% nickel and 0.18% cobalt; from surface to 8m depth (Hand Auger hole #35);
13m @ 1.26% nickel and 0.15% cobalt; from 2m to 15m depth (Hand Auger hole #6); and
10m @ 1.02% nickel and 0.19% cobalt; from 4m to 14m depth (Hand Auger hole #21)

Exploration
Southern Area
Phase one exploration was designed to delineate and evaluate zones of laterite in the previously largely unexplored
southern half of the property.
A regional mapping program completed over 2500 hectares (Ha) of the southern half of the property has delineated
a 280Ha area of laterite material. A follow up 600-hole, shallow, hand augur program on a 100m x 100m grid,
sampling the top 1m, delineated anomalous zones for follow up drill testing. 71Ha of the area hosting laterite
material contained zones of anomalous nickel and cobalt with values up to 0.62% Ni and 0.07% Co.
A core drilling program was completed on a 200m x 200m grid over the anomalous zones with follow up on a 100m
x 100m on selected areas. The drilling tested the limonite zone and underlying pallid zone of the laterite profile.
Three, light, man-portable drills employed have achieved maximum drill depths of 25m to 30m.
A total of 700m in 51 auger drill holes has been completed.
The program delineated a zone of elevated Ni and Co over serpentinised ultramafics. Results are being evaluated.
The focus will now be on the northern zones of interest.
Bulk Sampling
Bulk sampling conducted during summer 2018 yielded the following results.
Northern Area
Bulk sampling of the laterite limonite profile and underlying saprolite was taken from an area covering the historic
Kirpon resource area and will be the subject of metallurgical test studies.
Earth works have exposed the laterite profile from surface to a depth of approximately 4m over a distance of some
200m. The bulk sample location is on the western edge of the delineated historic resource area with the mapped
laterite zone up to 1.7km East-West in the area.
A total of six samples were taken with four from the limonite and two from the underlying saprolite zone. All were
channeled and a summary of the results is provided in the table below.
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CYCLOPS PROJECT (cont’d…)
Bulk Sampling (cont’d…)
Table 1. Kirpon Bulk Sample Results
LOCATION

SAMPLE

LENGTH (m)

WEIGHT

NO

FROM

TO

(KG)

Remark

Ni
(%)

Co
(%)

NiEQ1
(%)

Al2O3
(%)

CaO
(%)

Fe2O3
(%)

Fe
(%)

MgO
(%)

MnO
(%)

XD009

A0001031

0

1

22.2

Limonite

0.8

0.06

1.08

5.4

<0.01

75.14

52.55

0.72

0.7

XD009

A0001032

1

2

21.8

Limonite

1.23

0.16

1.97

4.9

0.02

74.12

51.84

1.82

1.16

XD009

A0001033

2

2.5

11.6

Saprolite

2.01

0.04

2.19

1.69

0.07

22.98

16.07

25.94

0.29

XD010

A0001034

0

1

22.0

Limonite

1.15

0.11

1.66

5.29

0.01

72.15

50.46

1.49

1.01

XD010

A0001035

1

2

21.9

Limonite

1.78

0.09

2.19

4.36

0.05

61.89

43.29

3.87

0.88

XD010

A0001036

2

2.5

12.0

Saprolite

1.52

0.02

1.61

0.63

0.08

12.87

9.00

33.56

0.12

The bulk sampling results are commensurate with previous historic data.
The bulk samples will now be shipped to a specialized laboratory for bench scale studies to test the mineralized
material’s amenability for production of a mixed Ni-Co hydroxide product.
Southern Area
Two (2) test pit holes were completed in the North Dosay area. Five (5) samples collected from the 2 test pits with
results shown in Table 2.
Table 2. North Dosay Bulk Sample Results
LOCATION

SAMPLE

LENGTH (m)

WEIGHT

NO

FROM

TO

(KG)

Comment

Ni
(%)

Co
(%)

NiEQ1
(%)

Al2O3
(%)

CaO
(%)

Fe2O3
(%)

Fe
(%)

MgO
(%)

MnO
(%)

TPD001

A0000945

0

1

20.0

Test pit

0.49

0.07

0.81

17.34

0.12

49.55

34.66

2.9

0.92

TPD001

A0000946

1

2

20.0

Test pit

0.60

0.07

0.92

15.54

0.1

48.69

34.05

6.19

0.93

TPD001

A0000947

2

2.7

20.0

Test pit

0.68

0.04

0.86

10.96

0.24

30.6

21.40

17.69

0.45

TPD002

A0000948

0

1

20.0

Test pit

0.46

0.03

0.60

6.29

1.94

24.69

17.27

21.24

0.42

TPD002

A0000949

1

1.2

20.0

Test pit

0.26

0.02

0.35

2.64

1.03

14.31

10.01

31.58

0.2

Offtake Agreement
In July 2018 the Company entered into a non-binding Preliminary Offtake Agreement (the “Agreement”) with
Beijing Easpring Material Technology Co., Ltd. (“Easpring”). Easpring and the Company intend to formalize the
terms of a definitive binding agreement (the “Definitive Agreement”) subject to further due diligence to be
completed between the parties.
The Definitive Agreement is expected to grant Easpring the right to purchase nickel sulphate and cobalt sulphate
(the “Products”) from the Company’s Cyclops project for an initial term of five years from the commencement of
commercial production. Annual volume will be determined in the Definitive Agreement, and it is presently intended
that the Company will not be limited in respect of third parties to which it may sell any amount of Product not
committed to Easpring. Pricing is intended to be linked directly to LME and LMB quoted metal pricing for nickel
and cobalt respectively, with sulphate premia? to be agreed quarterly based on the prevailing market pricing.
Specific pricing parameters will be determined with greater certainty in the Definitive Agreement.
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CYCLOPS PROJECT (cont’d…)
Offtake Agreement (cont’d…)
In addition, the Agreement contemplates a Strategic Investment Option, providing Easpring a preferential
opportunity to make an equity investment directly in the Company, or invest at the project level in Cyclops or other
nickel-cobalt assets acquired by the Company.
Process Testing
In July 2018 the Company engaged the services of an extractive technology and mineral process development
partner (“Processing Partner”) for the selection of a suitable process for recovery of cobalt and nickel from laterite
material.
In an already completed first phase of testing, the Processing Partner carried out a preliminary bench scale scoping
program to evaluate a proprietary leach technology on two Indonesian cobalt and nickel bearing laterite samples at
their facilities in Ontario, Canada. The samples were sourced from a regional property in which the Company has
no interest.
The laterite samples were leached using a specific mixed chloride process, employing a unique mixture of
hydrochloric acid (HCl) and magnesium chloride (MgCl2) within a bench scale environment.
The results of the phase one scoping tests have demonstrated that the Processing Partner’s mixed chloride leach
technology was effective in the recovery of value elements, namely Iron (Fe), Nickel (Ni), and Cobalt (Co) from
the two laterite samples tested.
Leach extractions were as follows:
Sample 1: 97.3%, 98.6% and 96.5% for Fe, Ni, and Co respectively.
Sample 2: 93.9%, 90.7% and 92.2% for Fe, Ni, and Co respectively.
Phase two of the program is designed to confirm that the optimal leach conditions established in phase one are
suitable for leaching samples sourced from the Company’s Cyclops Project, in order to establish metal separation
of value metals; nickel, cobalt and manganese. The selected samples will be processed to the stage where a nickel
and cobalt product purity can be established. Phase two is expected to result in a sample of battery-grade cobalt and
nickel for marketing purposes and to provide a preliminary process flowsheet.
Phase three of the program involves commissioning and operation of a mini pilot plant to provide process design
criteria for subsequent CAPEX/OPEX estimation and also to produce enough nickel and cobalt-bearing product for
independent evaluation by several prospective battery industry purchasers.
Drilling
A 50-hole core drilling program commenced in mid-January 2019 on areas of laterite delineated by geological
mapping and hand augur geochemistry programs completed in 2018. A total of 44 holes have been completed to
date with hole depths ranging from 13m to 29m and where possible were drilled to fresh rock in order to intersect
the full laterite profile.
The drilling confirms the development of a complete mineralized laterite profile and is starting to confirm grades
and widths which form the basis of the Historical Estimate1 for the Project. Mineralization occurs from surface with
elevated cobalt values of up to 0.48% encountered in the limonite layer and is underlain immediately by the limonite
transition and saprolite zones containing elevated nickel values of up to 2.65%.
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CYCLOPS PROJECT (cont’d…)
Drilling (cont’d…)
Drill highlights include:
Hole
DD200
And
Including
Including

From (m)
1
4
4
4

To (m)
4
19
11
10

Length (m)
3
15
7
6

Nickel (%)
1.00
1.28
2.15
2.28

Cobalt (%)
0.11
0.02
.03
.03

NiEQ2(%)
1.27
1.33
2.22
2.35

DD219
And
Including
Including

1
4
4
4

4
13
12
8

3
9
8
4

1.24
1.48
1.65
1.96

0.12
0.03
0.03
0.04

1.53
1.55
1.72
2.06

DD265
And
Including

0
1
1

1
7
6

1
6
5

0.53
1.75
1.91

0.06
0.03
0.03

0.68
1.82
1.98

DD266
And
Including

0
5
5

5
9
7

5
4
2

1.12
0.92
1.26

0.22
0.04
0.06

1.66
1.02
1.41

DD268
And
Including

0
7
7

7
11
9

7
4
2

0.94
1.30
1.61

0.27
0.14
0.26

1.60
1.64
2.24

DD242
And
Including
Including

0
2
2
2

2
11
10
8

2
9
8
6

0.86
1.52
1.62
1.78

0.09
0.04
0.05
0.06

1.08
1.62
1.74
1.93

DD269
And
Including

0
5
5

5
11
10

5
6
5

1.20
1.57
1.60

0.14
0.02
0.02

1.54
1.62
1.65

All drill intersections reported are true widths. All holes are vertical and the mineralizing system is flat lying and parallel to the surface topography.
1

Historical Estimate
A historical estimate, which dates from before the requirement for uniform regulatory compliance and therefore fails to meet the current standards of National
Instrument 43-101, is being referenced as a guide for the Company's 2018 work program. This early data employed measurements still in use today and
indicate mineralization from surface with an estimated potential of 37 million tonnes of 0.11 per cent cobalt and 1.31 per cent nickel at a 0.8-per-cent-nickelcut-off grade. The company intends to validate the resource and, where possible, expand upon the historical estimate, as only five of the nine known
cobalt/nickel occurrences were the subject of the historical studies. The company affirms this data in no way implies an estimated resource valuation but are
offered as a basis for its current exploratory efforts and approach.
The Company considers the cobalt and nickel tonnage and grade estimates contained herein to be historical estimates. The historical estimates are contained
in the summary geologic investigations, PT Pacific Nikkel Indonesia 1969 (Reynolds, 1979). These historical estimates do not use categories that conform to
current CIM (Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum) definition standards on mineral resources and mineral reserves as outlined in National
Instrument 43-101 (Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects) and have not been redefined to conform to current CIM definition standards. These estimates
were prepared in the 1980s prior to the adoption and implementation of NI 43-101. A qualified person has not done sufficient work to classify the historical
estimates as current mineral resources, and the Company is not treating the historical estimates as current mineral resources. More work, including, but not
limited to drilling will be required to conform the estimates to current CIM definition standards. Investors are cautioned that the historical estimates do not
mean or imply that economic deposits exist on the company's project. Efforts to obtain any additional information regarding relevant historical work are
continuing, although there are no assurances that these original data will be found. The Company believes that the historical estimates are relevant to
continuing exploration on the project. For more information, please refer to the technical report, filed on SEDAR on Dec. 8, 2017, and available under the
company's profile at SEDAR.
2

NiEQ
calculation basis: cobalt price per 3 months (LME data) $32/kg; nickel price per 3 months (LME data) $13.07/kgC = ratio between cobalt price/nickel price;
C = $32/$13.07 = 2.44; NiEQ = (%Co x C) + % Ni. No metallurgical recoveries were applied to either metal as it is expected that the metallurgical recoveries
will be similar for both metals.
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL POSITION AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
As at December 31, 2018, the Company’s liquidity and capital resources are as follows:
December 31, 2018
Cash
Receivables
Prepaid expenses
Advances
Share subscriptions receivable
Total current assets
Accounts payable and accrued
liabilities
Working capital

$

$

December 31, 2017

1,481,206
33,270
85,284
1,599,760

$

728,666
871,094

$

4,887,198
33,069
241,113
197,246
850,000
6,208,626
170,697
6,037,929

During the current period, cash funded operating activities for $4,794,076.
The Company closed one private placement and raised net proceeds of $246,454 from the issuance of 338,332 units.
An additional $850,000 was collected in relation to the December 2017 private placement that closed in the prior
period. The Company received $57,506 pursuant to the exercise of stock options and $398,322 pursuant to the
exercise of warrants.
At December 31, 2018 the Company had no source of operating cash flow, limited financial resources, and no
assurance that additional funding would be available to it in order to remain a going concern.
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
The Company has not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements.
SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION
For the period
from
incorporation on
June 6, 2017 to
December 31, 2017

December
31, 2018
Revenue
Income (loss) from continuing operations
- per share (1)
Income (loss) and comprehensive loss
- per share (1)
Total assets
1.

$
$
$
$
$
$

nil
(5,847,234)

(0.11)
(5,847,234)

(0.11)
2,434,746

$
$
$
$
$
$

nil
(3,916,184)
(0.18)
(3,916,184)
(0.18)
6,299,427

Fully diluted loss per share was not calculated as the effect was anti-dilutive.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS – YEAR TO DATE
For the year ended December 31, 2018, significant expenditures are as follows:
Expenses
Consulting fees

Explanation for Change
Consultants continued to be used for the promotion of the
Company and work performed to search for additional viable
projects.
The Company incurs fees for management for their role in
running the operations, searching for additional projects, and
promoting its activities.
The Company has incurred fees for attending conferences and
road shows around the world in addition to other various
advertising costs.
The Company has incurred fees relating to the work done on the
exploration on the Cyclops Project and other projects it is
researching.
The Company issued options to directors, officers, and
consultants, with various vesting schedules.

Management fees
Marketing
Project investigation fees
Share-based payments

SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS
December
31, 2018
Revenue
Income (loss) from continuing
operations
- per share (1)
Income (loss) and comprehensive
loss
- per share (1)

September
30, 2018

March 31,
2018

$
$

nil $
(781,946) $

nil $
(1,293,338) $

nil $
(1,866,379) $

nil
(1,905,571)

$
$

(0.02) $
(781,946) $

(0.02) $
(1,293,338) $

(0.04) $
(1,866,379) $

(0.04)
(1,905,571)

$

(0.02) $

(0.02) $

(0.04) $

(0.04)

December
31, 2017
Revenue
Income (loss) from continuing operations
- per share (1)
Income (loss) and comprehensive loss
- per share (1)
1.

June 30,
2018

$
$
$
$
$

nil
(3,904,805)
(0.18)
(3,904,805)
(0.18)

For the
period from
incorporation
on June 6,
2017 to June
30, 2017

September
30, 2017
$
$
$
$
$

nil
654
0.00
654
0.00

$
$
$
$
$

nil
(12,033)
(0.00)
(12,033)
(0.00)

Fully diluted loss per share was not calculated as the effect was anti-dilutive.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS – QUARTER
For the quarter ended June 30, 2017, the loss consists of expenditures incurred related to accruals recorded for
the incorporation of the Company. For the quarter ended September 30, 2017, the income consists of adjustments
incurred related to invoices received for the incorporation of the Company. For the quarter ended December 31,
2017, the loss consists of expenditures incurred related to the Transaction of the Company, as detailed above.
For the quarters ended December 31, 2018, March 31, 2018, June 30, 2018, and September 30, 2018, the loss
includes expenditures related to exploration of the property as per the Transaction of the Company.
PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS
The Company has not entered into any proposed transactions.
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Company defines its directors and officers as its key management personnel. The Company entered into the
following transactions with related parties during the for the year ended December 31, 2018:
a) Paid or accrued consulting fees of $18,000 to a company controlled by Tim Johnston, a director of the Company;
b) Paid or accrued corporate development fees of $60,000 to a company controlled by Sean Bromley, a director
of the Company;
c) Paid or accrued management fees of $185,964 to Ranjeet Sundher, the President, CEO and a director of the
Company;
d) Paid or accrued professional fees of $92,000 to a company controlled by Steve Vanry, the CFO of the Company
and a director of the Company;
e) Paid or accrued property investigation costs of $21,100 to a company controlled by Garry Clark, a director of
the Company;
f) Paid or accrued consulting fees of $8,795 to Geoffrey Fielding, a director of the Company; and
g) Recorded share-based payments of $58,435 to Tim Johnston, $24,316 to Sean Bromley, $24,316 to Ranjeet
Sundher, $27,863 to Steve Vanry, and $8,105 to Garry Clark.
Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities are amounts owing to related parties of $23,768.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels in the fair value hierarchy
according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. The three levels of the fair value
hierarchy are:
•
•
•

Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly;
and
Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d…)
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, receivables, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The fair value
of these financial instruments approximates their carrying values because of the short-term nature of these instruments. Cash
is measured at fair value using level 1 inputs.

Financial risk factors
The Company is exposed to a variety of financial risks by virtue of its activities including currency, credit, interest
rate, liquidity and price risk.
Credit risk
The Company is exposed to industry credit risks arising from its cash holdings and receivables. The Company
manages credit risk by placing cash with major Canadian financial institutions. The Company’s receivables consist
of goods and service tax receivable due from the Federal Government of Canada. Management believes that credit
risk related to these amounts is nominal.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient funds to meet its financial obligations when they
are due. To manage liquidity risk, the Company reviews additional sources of capital and financing to continue its
operations and discharge its commitments as they become due. The Company has sufficient cash to settle its current
liabilities as they come due.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices. Market risk is comprised of three types of market price changes:
(a)
Interest rate risk - this risk relates to the change in the borrowing rates of the Company. The Company is
not exposed to interest rate risk as it does not have any significant financial instruments with interest rates, with the
exception of cash. Interest earned on cash is based on prevailing bank account interest rates, which may fluctuate.
A 1% change in interest rates would result in a nominal difference in interest income for the year ended December
31, 2018.
(b)
Foreign currency risk - this risk relates to any changes in foreign currencies in which the Company
transacts. The effect of a 10% change in foreign exchange rates would be approximately $67,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2018.
(c)
Price risk - this risk is defined as the potential adverse impact on the Company’s earnings due to movements
in individual equity prices or general movements in the level of the stock market. Commodity price risk is defined
as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due to commodity price movements and volatilities.
The Company closely monitors commodity prices in relation to its exploration and evaluation assets. The Company
has limited exposure to price risk with respect to commodity and equity prices.
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NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS, AND AMENDMENDS
The following standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been adopted:
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments
Effective January 1, 2018, the Company retrospectively adopted IFRS 9. This standard replaces IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. Prior periods were not restated and there was no material impact to the
Company’s consolidated financial statements as a result of transitioning to IFRS 9. IFRS 9 introduced a revised
model for classification and measurement, and while this has resulted in financial instrument classification changes,
there were no quantitative impacts from adoption. Cash has changed classification from FVTPL to amortized cost.
The carrying value is equal to its fair value given the short-term nature of the asset, therefore, there is no change in
the carrying value as a result of the change in classification. There are no transitional impacts regarding financial
liabilities in regards to classification and measurement.
The adoption of the ECL impairment model had a negligible impact on the carrying amounts of the Company’s
financial assets given the nature of the items and that receivables are substantially all current and there is a minimal
level of default.
IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 establishes principles that an entity shall apply to report useful information to users of financial statements
about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from a contract with a customer.
There was no impact on the consolidated financial statements as a result of adopting this standard.
The following standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been issued and are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019:
IFRS 16, Leases
IFRS 16, Leases, will replace IAS 17, Leases. The new standard requires lessees to recognize a lease liability
reflecting future lease payments and a “right-of-use asset” for virtually all lease contracts, and to record it on the
statement of financial position, except with respect to lease contracts that meet limited exception criteria.
The Company has determined the impact of this new standard will be increased disclosure.
RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The Company’s principal activity is mineral exploration and development. Companies in this industry are subject
to many and varied kinds of risks, including but not limited to, environmental, fluctuating metal prices, social,
political, financial and economics. Additionally, few exploration projects successfully achieve development due to
factors that cannot be predicted or foreseen. While risk management cannot eliminate the impact of all potential
risks, the Company strives to manage such risks to the extent possible and practicable.
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RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (cont’d…)
The risks and uncertainties described in this section are considered by management to be the most important in the
context of the Company’s business. The risks and uncertainties below are not listed in order of importance nor are
they inclusive of all the risks and uncertainties the Company may be subject to as other risks may apply: the risks
associated with our dependence on the Cyclops project; geological exploration and development; changes in law,
unrest and political instability in Indonesia; permits for development of the Company’s projects cannot be renewed
on terms satisfactory to the Company and other land title permitting and licensing risks; infrastructure; inflation;
governmental regulation; environmental hazards and insurance; uninsured risks; competition; currency fluctuations;
labour and employment; joint ventures; and contract repudiation.
Limited Operating History
The Company was restructured and recapitalized but has not yet commenced active operations. As a result, it is
difficult to evaluate the Company’s prospects, and its future success is more uncertain than if it had a longer or more
proven history of operations.
History of Losses
The Company has incurred net losses since inception and as of December 31, 2018, had an accumulated deficit of
$9,833,124.
No History of Dividends
Since incorporation, the Company has not paid any cash or other dividends on its common stock and does not expect
to pay such dividends in the foreseeable future, as all available funds will be utilized to acquire and finance a new
business. The Company will need to achieve profitability prior to any dividends being declared.
Dilution
The Company does not generate any revenues and does not have sufficient financial resources to undertake by itself
significant expenditures. The Company has limited financial resources and has financed its operations primarily
through the sale of securities such as common shares. The Company will need to continue its reliance on the sale
of such securities for future financing, resulting in dilution to the Company’s existing shareholders.
The amount of additional funds required will depend largely on the success of the Company’s business
undertakings.
Further expenditures will depend on the Company’s ability to obtain additional financing which may not be
available under favourable terms, if at all.
Capital and Liquidity Risk
The amount of financial resources available to invest for the enhancement of shareholder value is dependent upon
the size of the treasury, profitable operations, and willingness to utilize debt and issue equity. Due to the size of the
Company, financial resources are limited and if the Company exceeds growth expectations or finds investment
opportunities it may require debt or equity financing. There is no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain
additional financial resources that may be required to successfully finance transactions or compete in its markets on
favourable commercial terms.
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RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (cont’d…)
Dependence on Key Personnel
Loss of certain members of the executive team or key operational leaders of the company could have a disruptive
effect on the implementation of the Company’s business strategy and the efficient running of day-to-day operations
until their replacement is found. Recruiting personnel is time consuming and expensive and the competition for a
professional is intense. The Company may be unable to retain its key employees or attract, assimilate, retain or
train other necessary qualified employees, which may restrict its growth potential.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The Company’s management reviews these estimates and underlying assumptions on an
ongoing basis, based on experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions to estimates are adjusted for prospectively in the period in which
the estimates are revised.
Critical accounting estimates are estimates and assumptions made by management that may result in a material
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year and are, but are not limited
to, the following:
Economic recoverability and probability of future economic benefits of exploration and evaluation assets
Management has determined that exploration, evaluation, and related costs incurred which were capitalized may
have future economic benefits and may be economically recoverable. Management uses several criteria in its
assessments of economic recoverability and probability of future economic benefits including, geologic and other
technical information, a history of conversion of mineral deposits with similar characteristics to its own properties
to proven and probable mineral reserves, the quality and capacity of existing infrastructure facilities, evaluation of
permitting and environmental issues and local support for the project.
Valuation of share-based payments
The Company uses the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model for valuation of share-based payments. Option pricing
models require the input of subjective assumptions including expected price volatility, interest rate, and forfeiture
rate. Changes in the input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate and the Company’s earnings and
equity reserves.
Accounting for acquisitions
The fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed requires that management make estimates based on the
information provided by the acquiree. The determination of fair value as of the acquisition date requires
management to make certain estimates about future events, including, but not restricted to, mineral reserves and
resources acquired, exploration potential, future operating costs and capital expenditures, future metal prices, longterm foreign exchange rates and discount rates.
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PACIFIC RIM COBALT CORP.
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION and ANALYSIS
For the year ended December 31, 2018

June 24, 2019

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The following events occurred subsequent to December 31, 2018 and are not disclosed elsewhere in this MD&A:
i. issued 1,200,000 common shares, for settlement of debt on services performed subsequent to year end;
ii. made payments of USD $60,000 towards the the Cyclops property; and
iii. received $2,500 for the property option agreement with Drifter Way Holdings.
OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA
The following details the common shares, stock options, warrants, and unit warrants outstanding as of the date of
this MD&A:
Common Shares
Stock Options
Warrants
Unit Warrants

63,694,358
3,993,750
25,463,659
133,333

OTHER MD&A REQUIREMENTS
Additional information relating to the Company may be found on or in:
• SEDAR at www.sedar.com; and
• the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018.
This MD&A was approved by the Board of Directors of the Company effective June 24, 2019.
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SCHEDULE "B"
STATEMENT OF EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
PACIFIC RIM COBALT CORP.
(the "Corporation")
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2018
In accordance with the requirements of National Instrument 51‐102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations, the Canadian
Securities Administrators have issued guidelines on executive compensation disclosure for venture issuers as set out
in Form 51‐102F6V. The objective of the disclosure is to communicate the compensation the Company paid, made
payable, awarded, granted, gave or otherwise provided to each named executive officer and director for the financial
year, and the decision‐making process relating to compensation. The disclosure will provide insight into executive
compensation as a key aspect of the overall stewardship and governance of the Company and will help Shareholders
understand how decisions about executive compensation are made. The Company’s approach to executive
compensation is set forth below.
Director and Named Executive Officer Compensation
Executive compensation is required to be disclosed for each (i) Chief Executive Officer (or individual who served in a
similar capacity during the most recently completed financial year), (ii) each Chief Financial Officer (or individual who
served in a similar capacity during the most recently completed financial year), (iii) the most highly compensated
executive officer (other than the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer) who were serving as
executive officers at the end of the most recently completed fiscal year whose total compensation was, individually,
more than $150,000; and (iv) each individual who would meet the definition set forth in (iii) but for the fact that the
individual was neither an executive officer of the Company, nor acting in a similar capacity, at the end of that financial
year (the "Named Executive Officers" or “NEO’s”).
Director and Named Executive Officer Compensation, Excluding Compensation Securities
The following table sets forth all compensation paid or accrued, payable, awarded, granted, given or otherwise
provided, directly or indirectly, by the Company or any subsidiary thereof, to each Named Executive Officer and
director of the Company, for each of the two most recently completed financial years ended December 31, 2018 and
2017.
Table of compensation excluding compensation securities

Name
and
position (1)
SUNDHER, Ranjeet(4)
President, CEO & Director
(5)

VANRY, Steve
CFO & Director

BROMLEY, Sean(6)
Director
CLARK, J. Garry(7)

Year
2018

Salary,
consulting
fee,
retainer or
commission
($)
185,964

2017

Bonus
($)
Nil

Committee
or meeting
fees
($)
Nil

Value of
perquisites
($) (2)
Nil

Value of all
other
compensation
($)(3)
Nil

Total
compensation
($)
185,964

30,010

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

30,010

2018

92,000

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

92,000

2017

38,625

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

38,625

2018

60,000

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

60,000

2017
2018

32,591
21,100

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

32,591
21,100

Director
JOHNSTON, Tim(8)
Director
FIELDING, Geoffrey(9)
Director
VANRY, Mark(10)
Former President, CEO & Director
SMITH, Kiriaki(11)
Former CFO & Director
BARTH, Richard(12)
Former Director

2017
2018
2017
2018
2017
2018
2017
2018
2017
2018
2017

Nil
18,000
1,909
8,795
‐
‐
15,000
‐
Nil
‐
Nil

Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
‐
‐
Nil
‐
Nil
‐
Nil

Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
‐
‐
Nil
‐
Nil
‐
Nil

Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
‐
‐
Nil
‐
Nil
‐
Nil

Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
‐
‐
Nil
‐
Nil
‐
Nil

Nil
18,000
1,909
8,795
‐
‐
15,000
‐
Nil
‐
Nil

Notes:
1. If an individual is an NEO and a director, both positions have been listed. Directors do not receive
compensation for acting as directors; all compensation noted is for serving as an NEO.
2. Includes perquisites provided to an NEO or director that are not generally available to all employees and
that, in aggregate, are greater than (a) $15,000, if the NEO or director’s total compensation for the financial
year is $150,000 or less; (b) 10% of the NEO or director’s salary for the financial year, if the NEO or director’s
total compensation for the financial year is greater than $150,000 but less than $500,000; (c) $50,000, if
the NEO or director’s total for the financial year is $500,000 or greater.
3. No form of other compensation paid or payable equals or exceeds 25% of the total value of other
compensation paid or payable to the director or Named Executive Officer.
4. Mr. Sundher was appointed President, CEO and a director of the Corporation on October 23, 2017.
5. Mr. Steve Vanry was appointed as CFO and a director of the Corporation on April 24, 2017. The table above
reflects the compensation paid to 677185 B.C. Ltd., a company controlled by Mr. Steve Vanry.
6. Mr. Bromley was appointed a director of the Corporation on October 23, 2017. The table above reflects the
compensation paid to 1129925 B.C. Ltd., a company controlled by Mr. Bromley.
7. Mr. Clark was appointed a director of the Corporation on October 23, 2017.
8. Mr. Johnston was appointed a director of the Corporation on November 23, 2017. The table above reflects
the compensation paid 2555663 Ontario Limited, a company controlled by Mr. Johnston.
9. Ms. Fielding was appointed a director of the Corporation on July 5, 2018.
10. Mr. Vanry resigned as President, CEO and as a director of the Corporation on October 23, 2017. The table
above reflects the compensation paid to 0845557 B.C. Ltd., a company controlled by Mr. Mark Vanry.
11. Mr. Smith resigned as CFO and a director of the Corporation on April 24, 2017.
12. Mr. Barth resigned as a director of the Corporation on October 23, 2017.
External Management Companies
Please refer to “Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements” below for disclosure relating to any
external management company employing, or retaining individuals, acting as Named Executive Officers of the
Company, or that provide the Company’s executive management services and allocate compensation paid to any
Name Executive Officer or director.
Stock Options and Other Compensation Securities
The were no compensation securities granted or issued by the Company, or any subsidiary thereof, to any director
or Named Executive Officer in the most recently completed financial year ended December 31, 2018 for services
provided or to be provided, directly or indirectly, to the Company or any subsidiary thereof.
There were no exercises, by a director or Named Executive Officer, of compensation securities during the most
recently completed financial year ended December 31, 2018.

Stock Option Plans and Other Incentive Plans
The following is a summary of the Company’s stock option plan (the “Option Plan”), which is the only incentive plan
in place available to the Named Executive Officers and Directors.
The number of Common Shares to be reserved and authorized for issuance pursuant to options granted under the
Option Plan shall not exceed ten percent (10%) of the total number of issued and outstanding shares in the Company.


Under the Option Plan, the aggregate number of optioned Common Shares granted to any one director or
Named Executive Officer, together with all other Common Share compensation arrangements, must not
exceed 5% of the Company's issued and outstanding shares in any 12‐month period, unless the Company has
obtained disinterested shareholder approval.



The exercise price for options granted under the Option Plan will be set by the Board of Directors at such time
as the option is allocated under the Option Plan and cannot be less than the discounted market price
permitted by the policies of the Canadian Securities Exchange.



Options can be exercisable for a maximum of 10 years, subject to earlier termination in the event of the
optionee's death or the cessation of the optionee's services to the Company.



Options granted under the Option Plan will not be assignable or transferable, except in the case of the death
of an optionee; any vested option held by such individual at the date of death will become exercisable by the
optionee’s lawful personal representatives, heirs or executors until the earlier of one year after the date of
death of such optionee and the date of expiration of the term otherwise applicable to such option.

Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements
The following is a summary of the Company’s employment, consulting and management agreements with its
directors and Named Executive Officers during the most recently completed financial year.
Compensation of Mrs. Leah Hodges, Corporate Secretary
Mrs. Hodges, by way of Benchmark Governance, entered into a consulting agreement on April 9, 2018 with the
Company (the "Hodges Agreement"), pursuant to which Mrs. Hodges provides her services to the Company as
Corporate Secretary. Pursuant to the Hodges Agreement, Mrs. Hodges receives $2,500 per month and participation
in the Option Plan. The Hodges Agreement may be terminated at the election of Mrs. Hodges or the Company on
reasonable notice.
Oversight and Description of Director and Named Executive Officer Compensation
Director Compensation
The Company has no standard arrangement pursuant to which directors are compensated by the Company for their
services in their capacity as directors, except for the granting from time to time of incentive stock options in
accordance with the policies of the Canadian Securities Exchange and the Plan.
Named Executive Officer Compensation
As the Corporation does not have a compensation committee, the functions of a compensation committee are
performed by the Board of Directors as a whole and the compensation of the Named Executive Officers is reviewed
and approved annually by the Board of Directors.
The objective of the Board of Directors in setting compensation levels is to attract and retain individuals of high
caliber to serve the Company, to motivate their performance in order to achieve the Company's strategic objectives

and to align the interests of the Named Executive Officers with the long‐term interests of the Shareholders. These
objectives are designed to ensure that the Company’s business continues to grow and develop.
The Board of Directors sets the compensation received by the Named Executive Officers so as to be generally
competitive with the compensation received by persons with similar qualifications and responsibilities who are
engaged by other companies of corresponding size and stage of development having similar assets, number of
employees and market capitalization.
The Company compensates its Named Executive Officers based on their skill and experience levels and the existing
stage of development of the Company. Named Executive Officers are rewarded on the basis of the skill and level of
responsibility involved in their position, the individual’s experience and qualifications, the Company’s resources,
industry practice, and regulatory guidelines regarding executive compensation levels.
The Board of Directors has implemented three levels of compensation to align the interests of the executive officers
with those of the shareholders. First, Named Executive Officers are paid a monthly consulting fee or salary
determined by the Board of Directors, if appropriate. Second, the Board of Directors awards Named Executive
Officers long term incentives in the form of stock options, if appropriate. Finally, and only in special circumstances,
the Board of Directors may award cash or share bonuses for exceptional performance that results in a significant
increase in shareholder value.
The base compensation of the Named Executive Officers is reviewed and set annually by the Board of Directors. The
Chief Executive Officer has substantial input in setting annual compensation levels. The Chief Executive Officer is
directly responsible for the financial resources and operations of the Company. In addition, the Chief Executive
Officer and Board of Directors from time to time determine the stock option grants to be made pursuant to the
Option Plan. Previous grants of stock options are taken into account when considering new grants. The Board of
Directors awards bonuses at its sole discretion. The Board of Directors has not set any performance criteria or
objectives.
The Board of Directors considers the implications of the risks associated with the Company's compensation policies
and practices when determining rewards for its Named Executive Officers and ensures that those policies do not
encourage management to take inappropriate or excessive risks. The Board of Directors does not believe that there
are any risks arising from the compensation programs that would be reasonably likely to have a material adverse
effect on the Company.
Neither Named Executive Officers nor directors are permitted to take any derivative or speculative positions in the
Company's securities. This is to prevent the purchase of financial instruments that are designed to hedge or offset
any decrease in the market value of the Company's securities.
Compensation for the most recently completed financial year should not be considered as an indicator of expected
compensation levels in future periods. All compensation is subject to and dependent on the Company’s financial
resources and prospects.
Pension Disclosure
The Company does not have any defined benefit or defined contribution pension plans in place which provide for
payments or benefits at, following, or in connection with retirement for its directors or Named Executive Officers.

